

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

LAVONNE GRIFFIN-VALADE
SECRETARY OF STATE

CHERYL MYERS
DEPUTY SECRETARY OF STATE
AND TRIBAL LIAISON



ARCHIVES DIVISION

STEPHANIE CLARK
DIRECTOR

800 SUMMER STREET NE
SALEM, OR 97310
503-373-0701

NOTICE OF PROPOSED RULEMAKING
INCLUDING STATEMENT OF NEED & FISCAL IMPACT

CHAPTER 860
PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION

FILED

09/25/2023 3:51 PM
ARCHIVES DIVISION
SECRETARY OF STATE

FILING CAPTION: In the Matter of Revisions to Division 039 Net Metering Rules (AR 659)

LAST DAY AND TIME TO OFFER COMMENT TO AGENCY: 11/07/2023 3:00 PM

The Agency requests public comment on whether other options should be considered for achieving the rule's substantive goals while reducing negative economic impact of the rule on business.

CONTACT: Diane Davis
971-375-5082
diane.davis@puc.oregon.gov

PO Box 1088
Salem, OR 97308

Filed By:
Diane Davis
Rules Coordinator

HEARING(S)

Auxiliary aids for persons with disabilities are available upon advance request. Notify the contact listed above.

DATE: 10/17/2023

TIME: 1:30 PM - 2:30 PM

OFFICER: Christopher J. Allwein

REMOTE MEETING DETAILS

MEETING URL: [Click here to join the meeting](#)

PHONE NUMBER: 1-669-254-5252

CONFERENCE ID: 1605487244

SPECIAL INSTRUCTIONS:

Passcode: 3834997028

NEED FOR THE RULE(S)

The original rules addressing interconnection of net metering facilities to the electric grid were adopted in 2007. The proposed rules update the technical specifications for interconnections between net metering facilities and the electric grid and modify the application process to incorporate the new standards and the application process for interconnection.

HOW TO COMMENT: The comment deadline is November 7, 2023, 3:00 p.m. The Commission encourages participants to file written comments as early as practicable in the proceedings so that other participants can consider and respond to the comments before the deadline. In addition to comments on the proposed rules themselves, the Commission also invites comments on whether other options should be considered for achieving the rule's substantive goals while reducing the negative economic impact of the rule on business.

Please reference Docket No. AR 659 on comments and file them as a Word or PDF attachment to an e-mail addressed to the PUC's Filing Center at PUC.FilingCenter@puc.oregon.gov.

For guidelines on filing and participation, please see OAR 860-001-0140 through 860-001-0160 and 860-001-0200 through 860-001-0250 found online at <http://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/displayDivisionRules.action?selectedDivision=4027>.

Oral comment may be provided at the hearing set for October 17, 2023, at 1:30 p.m., which will be held by Zoom.

Interested persons may review all filings online at <https://apps.puc.state.or.us/edockets/DocketNoLayout.asp?DocketID=23699>.

DOCUMENTS RELIED UPON, AND WHERE THEY ARE AVAILABLE

The 2018 edition of the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE) Standard 1547, titled "IEEE Standard for Interconnection and Interoperability of Distributed Energy Resources with Associated Electric Power Systems Interfaces" and approved by the IEEE SA Standards Board on February 15, 2018, available for review at the Oregon PUC office by appointment or available for purchase at <https://standards.ieee.org/ieee/1547/5915/>.

The 2020 edition of the IEEE Standard 1547.1, titled "IEEE Standard Conformance Test Procedures for Equipment Interconnecting Distributed Resources with Electric Power Systems and Associated Interfaces" and approved by the IEEE SA Standards Board on March 5, 2020, available for review at the Oregon PUC office by appointment or available for purchase at <https://standards.ieee.org/ieee/1547.1/6039/>.

Comments and presentations posted to the Oregon Public Utility Commission docket summary for Docket No. UM 2111, which can be found at <https://apps.puc.state.or.us/edockets/docket.asp?DocketID=22475>

ORS 757.300 Net metering facility allowed to connect to public utility; conditions for connecting and measuring energy; rules; application to out-of-state utilities. https://www.oregonlegislature.gov/bills_laws/ors/ors757.html

STATEMENT IDENTIFYING HOW ADOPTION OF RULE(S) WILL AFFECT RACIAL EQUITY IN THIS STATE

The modifications to the Public Utility Commission's rules regarding interconnection of small net metering facilities to the electric grid have no identifiable impact to racial equity in the State.

FISCAL AND ECONOMIC IMPACT:

The proposed rules are not expected to change the administrative obligations, and therefore costs, related to the interconnection process, for installers and interconnection applicants. Updates to the technical specifications may impact the type of equipment needed for interconnection, which may impact the cost of interconnection of some net metering facilities. Electric public utilities may need to update their Interconnection Handbooks to incorporate the technical standards.

COST OF COMPLIANCE:

(1) Identify any state agencies, units of local government, and members of the public likely to be economically affected by the rule(s). (2) Effect on Small Businesses: (a) Estimate the number and type of small businesses subject to the rule(s); (b) Describe the expected reporting, recordkeeping and administrative activities and cost required to comply with the rule(s); (c) Estimate the cost of professional services, equipment supplies, labor and increased administration required to comply with the rule(s).

(1) Installers of net metering facilities, individuals paying for installation of net metering facilities, and electric public utilities are likely to be economically affected by the rule changes.

(2)(a) Professional installers will be required to comply with the updated technical specifications for interconnections between net metering resources and utility distribution and transmission systems.

Small business owners seeking to have net metering facilities installed on their property would be subject to these rules. This would encompass any small business operator in Oregon that is a customer of a public utility and that is eligible to net meter. According to the U.S. Small Business Administration Office of Advocacy, there were more than 400,000 small businesses in Oregon in 2022. The OPUC does not have an estimate of the number of these small businesses that may be eligible to net meter under the updated rules.

(2)(b) For small businesses, there is no expected change to reporting, recordkeeping and administrative activities associated with the new rule.

Small business owners that are professional installers of net metering facilities or that seek to become net metering customers of electric utilities could experience cost impacts from the proposed rules. The new standards may require equipment to interconnect net metering facilities that varies from the equipment that is currently required, which may change the overall cost of individual projects. The type of equipment needed for any interconnection depends on many factors including the size of the net metering system to be installed and its location. Accordingly, it is not possible to accurately estimate how the proposed rule updates may change the cost of equipment for net metering interconnections.

(2)(c) The OPUC does not anticipate that the new rules will result in increased administration for small business owners. The proposed rules include updated technical specifications and requirements for interconnections between net metering facilities and distribution or transmission systems. The updated technical specifications may result in increased, or decreased, equipment costs and may change the cost of labor for installation. The overall impact to all small business owners in the business of installing net metering facilities or small business owners seeking to become net metering customers cannot be estimated.

DESCRIBE HOW SMALL BUSINESSES WERE INVOLVED IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF THESE RULE(S):

The Public Utility Commission Staff conducted a lengthy informal rulemaking process in which the Staff solicited written comment from interested stakeholders and hosted multiple workshops on topics covered by the proposed changes to Chapter 860, division 39 rules and by proposed changes to rules in a companion rulemaking.

WAS AN ADMINISTRATIVE RULE ADVISORY COMMITTEE CONSULTED? NO IF NOT, WHY NOT?

An administrative rule advisory committee was not consulted. Instead, the OPUC Staff conducted an extensive informal process to solicit input from stakeholders while drafting the proposed rules.

RULES PROPOSED:

860-039-0005, 860-039-0015, 860-039-0020, 860-039-0025, 860-039-0030, 860-039-0035, 860-039-0040, 860-039-0045, 860-039-0050, 860-039-0055, 860-039-0060, 860-039-0065

AMEND: 860-039-0005

RULE SUMMARY: These rule changes update definitions to current standards and make other housekeeping standards.

CHANGES TO RULE:

860-039-0005

Scope and Applicability of Net Metering Facility Rules ¶

(1) ~~OAR 860-039-0010 through 860-039-0080 (the "net metering rules")~~ 860-039-0010 through 860-039-0080 (the "net metering rules") establish rules governing net metering facilities interconnecting to a public utility as required under ORS 757.300. Net metering is available to a customer-generator only as provided in these rules. These rules do not apply to a public utility that meets the requirements of ORS 757.300(9). ¶

(2) Upon request or its own motion, the Commission may waive any of the division 039 rule for good cause shown. A request for waiver must be made in writing, unless otherwise allowed by the Commission. ¶

(a) A public utility and net metering applicant may mutually agree to reasonable extensions to the required times for notices and submissions of information set forth in these rules for the purpose of allowing efficient and complete review of a net metering application. ¶

(b) If a public utility unilaterally seeks waiver of the timelines set forth in these rules, the Commission must consider the number of pending applications for interconnection review and the type of applications, including review level and facility size. ¶

(3) As used in OAR 860-039-0010 through 860-039-0080: ¶

(a) "ANSI C12.1 standards" means the standards prescribed by the ~~2004~~22 edition of the American National Standards Institute, Committee C12.1 (ANSI C12.1), entitled "American National Standard for Electric Meters - Code for Electricity Metering," approved by the C12.1 Accredited Standard Committee on ~~July~~ne 9, 200422. ¶

(b) "Applicant" means a person who has filed an application to interconnect a net metering facility to an electric distribution system. ¶

(c) ~~"Area network" means a type of electric distribution system served by multiple transformers interconnected in an electrical network circuit in order to provide high reliability of service. This term has the same meaning as the term "secondary grid network" as defined in IEEE standard 1547 Section 4.1.4 (published July 2003).~~ ¶

(d) "Contiguous" means a single area of land that is considered to be contiguous even if there is an intervening public or railroad right of way, provided that rights of way land on which municipal infrastructure facilities exist (such as street lighting, sewerage transmission, and roadway controls) are not considered contiguous. ¶

(e) "Customer-generator" means the person who is the user of a net metering facility and who has applied for and been accepted to receive electricity service at a premises from the serving public utility. ¶

(f) ~~"Electric distribution system" means that portion of an electric system which delivers electricity from transformation points on the transmission system to points of connection at a customer's premises.~~ ¶

(g) "Equipment package" means a group of components connecting an electric generator with an electric distribution system, and includes all interface equipment including switchgear, inverters, or other interface devices. An equipment package may include an integrated generator or electric production source. ¶

(g) "Export capacity" means the amount of power that can be transferred from the small generator facility to the distribution system. Export capacity is either the nameplate rating, or a lower amount if limited using an acceptable means identified in OAR 860-082-0033. ¶

(h) "Fault current" means electrical current that flows through a circuit and is produced by an electrical fault, such as to ground, double-phase to ground, three-phase to ground, phase-to-phase, and three-phase. ¶

(i) "Generation capacity" means the nameplate capacity of the power generating device(s) in alternating current (AC). Generation capacity does not include the effects caused by inefficiencies of power conversion or plant parasitic loads. ¶

(j) "Good utility practice" means a practice, method, policy, or action engaged in or accepted by a significant portion of the electric industry in a region, which a reasonable utility official would expect, in light of the facts reasonably discernable at the time, to accomplish the desired result reliably, safely and expeditiously. ¶

(k) ~~"IEEE standards 1547" means the standards published in the 2003~~18 edition of the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE) Standard 1547, ~~entitled "Interconnecting~~IEEE Standard for Interconnection and Interoperability of Distributed Energy Resources with Associated Electric Power Systems Interfaces," approved by the IEEE SA Standards Board on ~~June~~February 125, 2003, ~~an~~18 ¶

(l) "IEEE 1547.1" means the standards published in the 2005 edition of the IEEE Standard 1547.1, entitled "IEEE Standard Conformance Test Procedures for Equipment Interconnecting Distributed Resources with Electric Power Systems," and Associated Interfaces" and approved by the IEEE SA Standards Board on ~~June 9~~March 5, 2005. ¶

(m) "Impact study" means an engineering analysis of the probable impact of a net metering facility on the safety and reliability of the public utility's electric distribution system. ¶

(n) "Interconnection agreement" means an agreement between a customer-generator and a public utility, which governs the connection of the net metering facility to the electric distribution system, as well as the ongoing operation of the net metering facility after it is connected to the system. An interconnection agreement will follow the standard form agreement developed by the public utility and filed with the Commission. ¶

(o) "Interconnection facilities study" means a study conducted by a utility for the customer-generator that

determines the additional or upgraded distribution system facilities, the cost of those facilities, and the time schedule required to interconnect the net metering facility to the utility's distribution system.¶

(~~o~~p) "Nationally recognized testing laboratory" or "NRTL" means a qualified private organization that performs independent safety testing and product certification. Each NRTL must meet the requirements set forth by the United States Occupational Safety and Health Administration.¶

(~~q~~) "Net metering facility" means a net metering facility as defined in ORS 757.300(1)(d).¶

(~~p~~r) "Non-residential customer" means a retail electricity consumer that is not a residential customer, except "non-residential customer" does not include a customer who would be a residential customer but for the residency provisions of subsection (~~r~~v) of this rule.¶

(~~q~~s) "Point of common coupling" means the point beyond the customer-generator's meter where the customer-generator facility connects with the electric distribution system.¶

(~~r~~t) "Public utility" has the meaning set forth in ORS 757.005 and is limited to a public utility that provides electric service.¶

(~~s~~u) "Reference point of applicability" (RPA) means a location proximate to the generation where the interconnection and interoperability performance requirements, as specified by IEEE 1547, apply.¶

(~~v~~) "Residential customer" means a retail electricity consumer that resides at a dwelling primarily used for residential purposes. "Residential customer" does not include retail electricity customers in a dwelling typically used for residency periods of less than 30 days, including hotels, motels, camps, lodges, and clubs. "Dwelling" includes, but is not limited to, single-family dwellings, separately-metered apartments, adult foster homes, manufactured dwellings, and floating homes.¶

(~~w~~) "Spot network" means a type of electric distribution system that uses two or more inter-tied transformers protected by network protectors to supply an electrical network circuit. A spot network may be used to supply power to a single customer or a small group of customers.¶

(~~x~~) "Written notice" means a required notice sent by the utility via electronic mail if the customer-generator has provided an electronic mail address. If the customer-generator has not provided an electronic mail address, or has requested in writing to be notified by United States mail, or if the utility elects to provide notice by United States mail, then written notices from the utility ~~shall~~ must be sent via First Class United States mail to the notification address provided by the customer-generator. The utility ~~is~~ shall be deemed to have fulfilled its duty to respond under these rules on the day it sends the customer-generator notice via electronic mail or deposits such notice in First Class mail. The customer-generator ~~is~~ shall be responsible for informing the utility of any changes to its notification address.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 183, ~~756~~, ORS 756, ORS 757

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 756.040, ORS 757.300

AMEND: 860-039-0015

RULE SUMMARY: The changes to this rule clarify requirements and update the references to the net-metering facility compliance standards.

CHANGES TO RULE:

860-039-0015

Installation, Operation, Maintenance, and Testing of Net Metering Facilities ¶¶

(1) Except for customer-generators established as net metering customers prior to the effective date of this rule, a customer-generator of a public utility must install, operate and maintain a net metering facility in compliance with ~~the IEEE standards~~1547 and IEEE 1547.1.¶

(2) Except for customer-generators established as net metering customers prior to the effective date of this rule, a customer-generator of a public utility must install and maintain a manual disconnect switch that will disconnect the net metering facility from the public utility's system. The disconnect switch must be a lockable, load-break switch that plainly indicates whether it is in the open or closed position. The disconnect switch must be readily accessible to the public utility at all times and located within 10 feet of the public utility's meter.¶

(a) For customer services of 600 volts or less, a public utility may not require a disconnect switch for a net metering facility that is inverter-based with a maximum rating as shown below.¶

(A) Service type: 240 Volts, Single-phase, 3 Wire - Maximum size 7.2 kW AC.¶

(B) Service type: 120/208 Volts, 3-Phase, 4 Wire - Maximum size 10.5 kW AC.¶

(C) Service type: 120/240 Volts, 3-Phase 4 Wire - Maximum size 12.5 kW AC.¶

(D) Service type: 277/480, 3-Phase, 4 Wire - Maximum size 25.0 kW AC.¶

(E) For other service types, the net metering facility must not impact the customer-generator's service conductors by more than 30 amperes.¶

(b) The disconnect switch may be located more than 10 feet from the public utility meter if permanent instructions are posted at the meter indicating the precise location of the disconnect switch. The public utility must approve the location of the disconnect switch prior to the installation of the net metering facility.¶

(3) The customer-generator's electric service may be disconnected by the public utility entirely if the net metering facility must be physically disconnected for any reason.¶

[~~ED. NOTE: Tables referenced are available from the agency.~~]

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 183, ~~756,~~ORS 756, ORS 757

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 756.040, ORS 757.300

AMEND: 860-039-0020

RULE SUMMARY: The rule changes update standards references to current standards and make housekeeping changes.

CHANGES TO RULE:

860-039-0020

Net Metering Facility Requirements ¶¶

(1) To qualify for the ~~Level Tier~~1 and the ~~Level Tier~~ 2 interconnection review procedures set forth below, a net metering facility must be certified as complying with the following standards, as applicable:¶¶

(a) IEEE 1547 standards; and¶¶

(b) UL 1741 Inverters, Converters, and Controllers for Use in Independent Power Systems (January 2001).¶¶

(2) An equipment package will be considered certified for interconnected operation if it has been submitted by a manufacturer to a ~~nationally recognized testing and certification laboratory~~, NTRL and has been tested and listed by the laboratory for continuous interactive operation with an electric distribution system in compliance with the applicable codes and standards listed in section (1) of this rule.¶¶

(3) If the equipment package has been tested and listed in accordance with this section as an integrated package, which includes a generator or other electric source, the equipment package will be deemed certified, and the public utility will not require further design review, testing, or additional equipment.¶¶

(4) If the equipment package includes only the interface components (switchgear, inverters, or other interface devices), an interconnection applicant must show that the generator or other electric source being utilized with the equipment package is compatible with the equipment package and consistent with the testing and listing specified for the package. If the generator or electric source being utilized with the equipment package is consistent with the testing and listing performed by the ~~nationally recognized testing and certification laboratory~~ NTRL, the equipment package will be deemed certified, and the public utility will not require further design review, testing, or additional equipment.¶¶

(5) A net metering facility must be equipped with metering equipment that can measure the flow of electricity in both directions, comply with ANSI C12.1 standards and OAR 860-023-0015. The public utility will install the required metering equipment at the utility's expense.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 183, ~~756~~, ORS 756, ORS 757

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 756.040, ORS 757.300

AMEND: 860-039-0025

RULE SUMMARY: The rule changes clarify the application process and make housekeeping and reference updates.

CHANGES TO RULE:

860-039-0025

Application for Net Metering Interconnection ¶

(1) An application for interconnection review will be submitted on a standard form, available from the public utility and posted on the public utility's website. The application form will require the following types of information:¶

(a) The name of the applicant and the public utility involved;¶

(b) The type and specifications of the net metering facility;¶

(c) The ~~level~~tier of interconnection review sought; e.g., ~~Level 1, Level 2 or Level 3~~Tier 1, Tier 2 or Tier 4;¶

(d) The contractor who will install the net metering facility;¶

(e) Equipment certifications;¶

(f) The anticipated date the net metering facility will be operational; and¶

(g) Other information that the utility deems is necessary to determine compliance with these net metering rules.¶

(2) Within three business days after receiving an application for ~~Level~~Tier 1 or ~~Level~~Tier 2 interconnection review, the public utility will provide written or electronic mail notice to the applicant that it received the application and whether the application is complete. An application for interconnection is deemed complete when the public utility receives the information required by this rule. If the application is incomplete, the written notice will include a list of all of the information needed to complete the application. The applicant must provide the listed information within 10 business days of receipt of the list or the application is deemed withdrawn.¶

(3) An applicant will retain its original queue position for an interconnection request if the applicant resubmits its application at a higher ~~level~~tier of review within 30 business days of a utility's denial of the application at a lower level of review.¶

(4) Each public utility will designate an employee or office from which an applicant can obtain basic application forms and information through an informal process. On request, the public utility must provide all relevant forms, documents, and technical requirements for submittal of a complete application for interconnection review under these net metering rules, as well as specific information necessary to contact the public utility representatives assigned to review the application.¶

(5) On request, the public utility must meet with an applicant who qualifies for ~~Level~~Tier 2 or ~~Level~~Tier 4 interconnection review to assist them in preparing the application.¶

(6) A public utility will not be responsible for the cost of determining the rating of equipment owned by a customer-generator or of equipment owned by other local customers.¶

(7) At the time of application, an applicant may choose to simultaneously submit an executed public utility's standard form interconnection agreement.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 183, ~~756~~, ORS 756, ORS 757

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 756.040, ORS 757.300

AMEND: 860-039-0030

RULE SUMMARY: The rule changes update screening conditions of the interconnection application review and align with requirements in Division 82 rules.

CHANGES TO RULE:

860-039-0030

Level Tier 1 Net Metering Interconnection Review ¶

(1) A net metering facility meeting the following criteria is eligible for ~~Level Tier~~1 interconnection review:¶

(a) The facility is inverter-based; and¶

(b) The facility has a capacity of 50 kilowatts or less and an export capacity of 25 kilowatts or less.¶

(2) The public utility must approve a complete application for interconnection under the ~~Level 1~~ Tier 1 net metering interconnection review procedure if:¶

~~(a) The aggregate generation cap the net metering facility on the distribution circuit to which the net metering facility will meet the eligibility requirements in section (1) of this rule and the facility meets the Tier 1 interconnect, including the capacity of the net metering facility, will not contribute more than 10 perceio~~
(a) The aggregate generation capacity of the net metering facility, including the capacity of the net metering facility, will not contribute more than 10 percent to the screening criteria set forth at OAR 860-082-0045(2)(a)-(f).¶

~~(3) Within 10 business days after the public utility notifies a Tier 1 applicant to that the distribution circuit's maximum fault current at the point on the high voltage (primary) level that is nearest the proposed point of common coupling.~~¶

~~(b) A net metering facility's poin~~(b) A net metering facility's point application is complete, the public utility must notify the applicant whether the facility meets the Tier 1 screening criteria.¶

~~(4) If a public utility does not notify a Tier 1 applicant in writing whether the interconnection application passes the Tier 1 screening criteria within 20 business days after the receipt of a common coupling will not be on a transmission line, a spot network, or an area network~~
(4) If a public utility does not notify a Tier 1 applicant in writing whether the interconnection application passes the Tier 1 screening criteria within 20 business days after the receipt of a complete application, the interconnection application will be deemed approved. Interconnections approved under this section remain subject to sections (7) and (8) below.¶

~~(c) If a net metering~~(c) If a net metering facility is to be connected to a radial distribution circuire. ¶

~~(a) Despite the failure of one or more screening criteria, the public utility, the aggregate generation capacity connected to the circuit, including at its sole option, may approve the interconnection provided such approval is consistent with safety and reliability.~~¶

~~(b) If the public utility determines that of the net metering facility, will not exceed 10 percent (15 percent for solar electric genercustomer-generator can be interconnected safely if minor modification)-ofs to the circuit's total annual peak load, as most recently measured at the substation.~~¶

~~(d) If a net metering facility is to be connected to a single-phase shared secondary, the aggregate generation capacity connected to the shared secondary, including the net metering facility, will not exceed 20 kilovolt-amps.~~¶

~~(e) If a single-phase net metering facility is to be connected to a transformer center tap neutral of a 240-volt service, the addit~~
(e) If a single-phase net metering facility is to be connected to a transformer center tap neutral of a 240-volt service, the addition of a transmission or distribution system were made (for example, changing meters, fuses, or relay settings), then the public utility must offer the applicant a good-faith, non-binding estimate of the costs of such proposed minor modifications. Modifications are not considered minor under this subsection if the total cost of the modifications exceeds \$10,000. If the applicant authorizes the public utility to proceed with the minor modifications and agrees to pay the entire cost of the modification-ofs, the net metering facility will not create a current imbalance between the two sides of the 240-volt service of more than 20 percent of nameplate rating of n the public utility must approve the application.¶

~~(6) Process after screen failure. If the public utility cannot determine that the customer-generator may nevertheless be interconnected consistent with the service transformer.~~¶

~~(3) Within 10 business days after~~
(3) Within 10 business days after safety, reliability, and power quality standards, at the time the public utility notifies a ~~Level 1~~the applicant that of the application is complete, Tier 1 review results the public utility must ~~notify~~shall provide the applicant that: with: ¶

(a) The net metering facility meets all applicable criteria and the interconnection will be approved upon installation of any required meter upgrade, completion of any required inspscreen results, including specific information on the reason(s) for failure in writing using a standard format approved by the Commission; and¶

(b) An executable Supplemental Review Agreement. ¶

(c) In addition, the public utility shall allow the applicant to select; one of the facility, and execution of an interconnection agreement; or following, at the applicant's option:¶

(A) Request an applicant options meeting: ¶

~~(b) The net metering facility has failed to meet one or more of the applicable criteria and the interconnection application is denied~~(b) Undergo supplemental review in accordance with OAR 860-082-0063; ¶

~~(C) Continue evaluating the application under Tier 4.~~ ¶

The applicant must notify the public utility of its selection within 10 business days, or the application will be deemed withdrawn.¶

~~(47) If a public utility does not notify a Level 1 applicant in writing or by electronic mail whether the interconnection is approved or denied~~Applicant options meeting. If the applicant requests an applicant options meeting, the public utility shall offer to convene a meeting at a mutually agreeable time within 2015 business days after the receipt of an application, the interconnection will be deemed approved. Interconnectof the applicant's request. At the applicant options meeting, the public utility shall provide the applicant the opportunity to review the screen analysis and related results, to designate a different RPA, to review possible customers-generator modifications, approved under this section remain subject to section 7 below, and to discuss what further steps are needed to permit the net metering facility to connect safely and reliably.¶

~~(58) Within three business days after sending the notice to an applicant that the proposed interconnection meets the Level 1 application meets the Tier 1 interconnection requirements, a public utility must notify the applicant whether:~~¶

(a) An inspection of the net metering facility for compliance with the net metering rules is required prior to the operation of the facility; and¶

(b) An interconnection agreement is required for the net metering facilities. If required, the public utility must also execute and send to the applicant a ~~Level~~Tier 1 interconnection agreement, unless the applicant has already submitted such an agreement with its application for interconnection.¶

~~(69) On receipt of any required executed interconnection agreement from the applicant and satisfactory completion of any required inspection, the public utility will approve the interconnection, conditioned on compliance with all applicable building codes.~~¶

~~(710) A customer-generator will notify the public utility of the anticipated start date for operation of the net metering facility at least five business days prior to starting operation, either through the submittal of the interconnection agreement or in a separate notice. If the public utility requires an inspection of the net metering facility, the applicant will not begin operating the facility until satisfactory completion of the inspection.~~¶

~~(811) If an application for Level 1 interconnection review is denied because it does not meet one or more of the applicable requirements in this section, an applicant may resubmit the application under the Level 2 or Level 3 interconnection review procedure, as appropriate.~~

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 183, ~~756~~, ORS 756, ORS 757

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 756.040, ORS 757.300

RULE SUMMARY: These rule changes align the requirements here with the Division 82 requirements, as well as provide more clarity to the Tier 2 Net Metering Interconnection Review Process and update standards referenced.

CHANGES TO RULE:

860-039-0035

Level Tier 2 Net Metering Interconnection Review

(1) A public utility must apply the following Level Tier 2 interconnection review procedure for an application to interconnect a net metering facility that meets the following criteria:

(a) The facility has a capacity of two megawatts or less; and

(b) The facility does not qualify for or failed to meet applicable Level Tier 1 interconnection review procedures.

(2) The public utility must approve interconnection under the Level 2 interconnection review procedure if:

(a) The aggregate generation capacity on the distribution circuit to which the net metering facility will interconnect, including the capacity of the net metering facility, will not cause any distribution protective equipment (including, but not limited to, substation breakers, fuse cutouts, and line reclosers), or customer equipment on the electric distribution system, to exceed 90 percent of the short circuit interrupting capability of the equipment. In addition, a net metering facility will not be connected to a circuit that already exceeds 90 percent of the short circuit interrupting capability, prior to interconnection of the facility.

(b) If there are posted transient stability limits to generating units located in the general electrical vicinity of the proposed point of common coupling, including, but not limited to within three or four transmission voltage level busses, the aggregate generation capacity, including the net metering facility, connected to the distribution low voltage side of the substation transformer feeding the distribution circuit containing the point of common coupling will not exceed 10 megawatts.

(c) The aggregate generation capacity connected to the distribution circuit, including the net metering facility, will not contribute more than 10 percent to the distribution circuit's maximum fault current at the point on the high voltage (primary) level nearest the proposed point of common coupling.

(d) If a net metering facility is to be connected to a radial distribution circuit, the aggregate generation capacity connected to the electric distribution system by non-public utility sources, including the net metering facility, will not exceed 10 percent (or 15 percent for solar electric generation) of the total circuit annual peak load. For the purposes of this subsection, annual peak load will be based on measurements taken over the 12 months previous to the submittal of the application, measured for the circuit at the substation nearest to the net metering facility.

(e) If a net metering facility is to be connected to three-phase, three wire primary public utility distribution lines, a three-phase or single-phase generator will be connected phase-to-phase.

(f) If a net metering facility is to be connected to three-phase, four wire primary public utility distribution lines, a three-phase or single-phase generator will be connected an application for interconnection under the Tier 2 interconnection review if the net metering facility meets the eligibility requirements in section (1) of this rule and the facility meets the Tier 2 interconnection screening criteria set forth at OAR 860-082-0050(2)(a)-(l).

(3) The public utility must perform an initial review of the proposed line-to-neutral and will be effectively grounded.

(g) If a net metering facility is to be connected to a single-phase shared secondary, the aggregate generation capacity on the shared secondary, including the net metering facility, will not exceed 20 kilovolt-amperes.

(h) If a net metering facility is single-phase and is to be connected to a transformer center tap neutral of a 240-volt service, the addition of the net metering facility will not create a current imbalance between the two sides of the 240-volt service that is greater than 20 percent of the nameplate rating of the service transformer.

(i) A net metering facility's point of common coupling will not be on a transmission line.

(j) If a net metering facility's proposed point of common coupling is on a spot or area network, the interconnection will meet the following additional requirements:

(A) For a net metering facility that will be connected to a spot network circuit, the aggregate generation capacity connected to that spot network from the net metering facilities, and any generating facilities, will not exceed five percent of the spot network's maximum load;

(B) For a net metering facility that utilizes inverter-based protective functions, which will be connected to an area network, the net metering facility, combined with any other generating facilities on the load side of network protective devices, will not exceed 10 percent of the minimum annual load on the network, or 500 kilowatts, whichever is less. For the purposes of this paragraph, the percent of minimum load for solar electric generation net metering facility will be calculated based on the minimum load occurring during an off-peak daylight period; and

(C) For a net metering facility that will be connected to a spot or an area network that does not utilize inverter-

based protective functions, or for an inverter-based net metering facility that does not meet the requirements of paragraphs (A) or (B) of this subsection, the net metering facility will utilize low forward power relays or other protection devices that ensure no export of power from the net metering facility, including inadvertent export (under fault conditions) that could adversely affect protective devices on the network.¶

~~(3) Interconnection to determine whether the interconnection meets the applicable criteria. During this initial review, the public utility may, at its own expense, conduct any studies or tests it deems necessary to evaluate the proposed interconnection. Within 15 business days after notifying a Level Tier 2 applicant that the application is complete, the public utility must perform an initial review of the proposed interconnection to determine whether the interconnection meets the applicable criteria. During this initial review, the public utility may, at its own expense, conduct any studies or tests it deems necessary to evaluate the proposed interconnection and provide notice to the applicant.~~ provide the applicant written notice of one of the following determinations:¶

~~(a) The net metering facility meets the applicable requirements and that interconnection will be approved following any required inspection of the facility and fully executed interconnection agreement. Within three business days after this notice, the public utility will provide the applicant with an executable interconnection agreement;¶~~

~~(b) The net metering facility failed to meet one or more of the applicable requirements, but the public utility determined that the net metering facility may nevertheless be interconnected consistent with safety, reliability, and power quality. In this case, the public utility will notify the applicant that the interconnection will be approved following any required inspection of the facility and fully executed interconnection agreement. Within five business days after this notice, the public utility will provide the applicant with an executable interconnection agreement; or¶~~

~~(c) The net metering facility failed to meet one or more of the applicable requirements, and that additional review may would not enable the public utility to determine that the net metering facility may could be interconnected consistent with safety, reliability, and power quality. In such a case, the public utility will offer to perform additional review to determine whether minor modifications to the electric distribution system would enable the interconnection to be made.~~ notify the applicant that the interconnection application failed the screening criteria, including a list of additional information, or modifications to the net metering facility, or both, which would be required in order to obtain an approval under Tier 2 interconnection procedures.¶

~~(4) Process after screen failure. If the public utility cannot determine that the customer-generator may nevertheless be interconnected consistent with safety, and reliability stand power quality. Fards, at the time the public utility notifies the applicant of the Tier 2 review results the public utility wishall provide to the applicant a nonbinding, good faith estimate of the costs of such addition with:¶~~

~~(a) The screen results including specific information on the reason(s) for failure in writing using a standard format approved by the Commission, and¶~~

~~(b) An executable Supplemental rReview, or such minor modifica Agreement. ¶~~

~~(c) In additions, or both. Tthe public utility will undertake the additional review or modifications only after the applicant consents to pay for the review or modifications, or both; shall allow the applicant to select one of the following, at the applicant's option:¶~~

~~(A) Request an applicant options meeting; ¶~~

~~(B) Undergo supplemental review in accordance with OAR 860-082-0063; or¶~~

~~(dC) The net metering facility failed to meet one or more of Continue evaluating the application under Tier 4. ¶ The applicant must notify the public utility of its selection within 10 business days, or the applicable requirements, and that additional review would not enable the public utility to determine that the net metering facility could be interconnected consistent with safety, reliability, and power quality. In such a case, tion will be deemed withdrawn.¶~~

~~(5) Applicant options meeting. If the applicant requests an applicant options meeting, the public utility shall offer to convene a meeting at a mutually agreeable time within 15 business days of the applicant's request. At the applicant options meeting the public utility will notify shall provide the applicant that the interconnection application has been denied, and will provide an explanation of the reason(s) for the denial, including a list of additional information, or modifications to the net metering facility, or both, which would be required in or opportunity to review the screen analysis and related results, to designate a different RPA, to review possible customers-generator modifications, and to discuss what further steps are needed to obtain an approval under Level 2 interconnection procedures. permit the net metering facility to connect safely and reliably. ¶~~

~~(46) An applicant that receives an interconnection agreement under subsection (3)(a) or (3)(b) of this rule must:¶~~

~~(a) Execute the agreement and return it to the public utility at least 10 business days prior to starting operation of the net metering facility (unless the public utility does not so require); and¶~~

~~(b) Indicate to the public utility the anticipated start date for operation of the net metering facility.¶~~

~~(57) The public utility may require a public utility inspection of a net metering facility for compliance with these net metering rules prior to operation, and may require and arrange for witness of commissioning tests as set forth~~

in IEEE standards ~~1547~~ and IEEE 1547.1. The public utility must schedule any inspections or tests under this section promptly and within a reasonable time after submittal of the application. The applicant may not begin operating the net metering facility until after the inspection and testing is completed.¶¶

~~(6)~~ Approval of interconnected operation of any ~~Level~~ Tier 2 net metering facility must be conditioned on all of the following occurring:¶¶

(a) Approval of the interconnection by the electrical code official with jurisdiction over the interconnection;¶¶

(b) Successful completion of any public utility inspection or witnessing, or both, of commissioning tests requested by the public utility; and¶¶

(c) Passing of the planned start date provided by the applicant.¶¶

~~(7) If an application for Level 2 interconnection review is denied because it does not meet one or more of the requirements in this section, the applicant may resubmit the application under the Level 3 interconnection review procedure.~~

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 183, ~~756~~, ORS 756, ORS 757

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 756.040, ORS 757.300

AMEND: 860-039-0040

RULE SUMMARY: The changes to this rule align the requirements with those in Division 82 and include updating references to procedures and clarifying processes for a Tier 4 Interconnection Review.

CHANGES TO RULE:

860-039-0040

~~Level 3~~Tier 4 Net Metering Interconnection Review ¶¶

(1) The public utility must apply the ~~Level 3~~Tier 4 review procedure for an application to interconnect a net metering facility that meets the following criteria:¶¶

(a) The facility has a capacity of two megawatts or less; and¶¶

(b) The facility does not qualify for or failed to ~~meet Level 3~~receive approval in Tier 1 or Tier 2 interconnection review procedures.¶¶

(2) Following receipt of a ~~Level 3~~Tier 4 application and within three business days of a request from the applicant, the public utility must provide pertinent information to the applicant, such as the available fault current at the proposed interconnection location, the existing peak loading on the lines in the general vicinity of the net metering facility, and the configuration of the distribution lines at the proposed point of common coupling.¶¶

(3) Within seven business days after receiving a complete application for ~~Level 3~~Tier 4 interconnection review, the public utility must provide an impact study agreement to the applicant, which will include a non-binding, good faith cost estimate for an impact study to be performed by the public utility. The impact study will be conducted in accordance with good utility practice and must:¶¶

(a) Detail the impacts to the electric distribution system that would result if the net metering facility were interconnected without modifications to either the net metering facility or to the electric distribution system;¶¶

(b) Identify any modifications to the public utility's electric distribution system that would be necessary to accommodate the proposed interconnection; and¶¶

(c) Focus on power flows and utility protective devices, including control requirements; and¶¶

(d) Include the following elements, as applicable:¶¶

(A) A load flow study;¶¶

(B) A short-circuit study;¶¶

(C) A circuit protection and coordination study;¶¶

(D) The impact on the operation of the electric distribution system;¶¶

(E) A stability study, along with the conditions that would justify including this element in the impact study;¶¶

(F) A voltage collapse study, along with the conditions that would justify including this element in the impact study; and¶¶

(G) Additional elements, if approved in writing by Commission staff prior to the impact study.¶¶

(4) After the applicant executes the impact study agreement and pays the public utility the amount of the good faith estimate, the public utility will complete the impact study and will notify the applicant within 30 calendar days of one of the following results:¶¶

(a) Only minor modifications to the public utility's electric distribution system are necessary to accommodate interconnection. In such a case, the public utility will send the applicant an interconnection agreement that details the scope of the necessary modifications and a non-binding, good faith estimate of their cost; or¶¶

(b) Substantial modifications to the public utility's electric distribution system are necessary to accommodate the proposed interconnection. In such a case, the public utility must provide a non-binding, good faith estimate of the cost of the modifications, which must be accurate to within plus or minus 25 percent. In addition, the public utility must offer to conduct, at the applicant's expense, an interconnection facilities study that must identify the types and cost of equipment needed to safely interconnect the applicant's net metering facility.¶¶

(5) If the proposed interconnection may affect electric transmission or delivery systems other than those controlled by the public utility, operators of those other systems may require additional studies to determine the potential impact of the interconnection on those systems. If such additional studies are required, the public utility will coordinate the studies but will not be responsible for their timing. The applicant will be responsible for the costs of any such additional studies required by another affected system. Such studies will be conducted only after the applicant has provided written authorization.¶¶

(6) If an applicant requests a facilities study under subsection (4)(b), the public utility must provide an interconnection facilities study agreement. The interconnection facilities study agreement must describe the work to be undertaken in the interconnection facilities study and must include a non-binding, good faith estimate of the cost to the applicant for completion of the study. Upon the execution by the applicant of the interconnection facilities study agreement, the public utility will conduct an interconnection facilities study to identify the facilities necessary to safely interconnect the net metering facility with the public utility's electric

distribution system, and to propose a non-binding, good faith estimate of the cost of those facilities and the time required to build and install those facilities.¶

(7) Upon completion of an interconnection facilities study, the public utility must provide the applicant with the results of the study and an executable interconnection agreement. The agreement must list the conditions and facilities necessary for the net metering facility to safely interconnect with the public utility's electric distribution system, and must include a non-binding, good faith estimate of the cost of those facilities and the estimated time required to build and install those facilities.¶

(8) If the applicant wishes to interconnect, it must execute the interconnection agreement and return it to the public utility at least 10 business days prior to starting operation of the net metering facility (unless the public utility does not so require), pay a deposit of not more than 50 percent of the estimated cost of the facilities identified in the interconnection facilities study, complete installation of the net metering facility, and agree to pay the public utility the actual installed cost of the facilities needed to interconnect as identified in the interconnection facilities study.¶

(9) Within 15 business days after notice from the applicant that the net metering facility has been installed, the public utility will inspect the net metering facility and will arrange to witness any commissioning tests required under IEEE standards. The public utility and the applicant will select a date by mutual agreement for the public utility to witness commissioning tests.¶

(10) If the net metering facility satisfactorily passes required commissioning tests, if any, the public utility must notify the applicant in writing, within three business days after the tests, of one of the following:¶

(a) The interconnection is approved and the net metering facility may begin operation; or¶

(b) The interconnection facilities study identified necessary construction that has not been completed, the date upon which the construction will be completed and the date when the net metering facility may begin operation.¶

(11) If the commissioning tests are not satisfactory, the applicant will repair or replace the unsatisfactory equipment and reschedule a commissioning test.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 183, ~~756~~, ORS 756, ORS 757

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 756.040, ORS 757.300

AMEND: 860-039-0045

RULE SUMMARY: The rules changes update the naming for the interconnection review processes.

CHANGES TO RULE:

860-039-0045

Net Metering Interconnection Fees and Costs ¶

(1) A public utility may not charge an application, or other fee, to an applicant that requests ~~Level~~Tier 1 interconnection review. However, if an application for ~~Level~~Tier 1 interconnection review is denied ~~because it does not meet the requirements for Level 1 interconnection review~~, and the applicant resubmits the application under another review procedure, the public utility may impose a fee for the resubmitted application, consistent with this section.¶

(2) For a ~~Level~~Tier 2 interconnection review, the public utility may charge fees of up to \$50.00 plus \$1.00 per kilowatt of the net metering facility's capacity, plus the reasonable cost of any required minor modifications to the electric distribution system or additional review. Costs for such minor modifications or additional review will be based on the public utility's non-binding, good faith estimates and the ultimate actual installed costs. Costs for engineering work done as part of any additional review will not exceed \$100.00 per hour. A public utility may adjust the \$100.00 hourly rate once in January of each year to account for inflation and deflation as measured by the Consumer Price Index.¶

(3) For a ~~Level 3~~Tier 4 interconnection review, the public utility may charge fees of up to \$100.00 plus \$2.00 per kilowatt of the net metering facility's capacity, as well as charges for actual time spent on any required impact or facilities studies. Costs for engineering work done as part of an impact study or interconnection facilities study will not exceed \$100.00 per hour. A public utility may adjust the \$100.00 hourly rate once in January of each year to account for inflation and deflation as measured by the Consumer Price Index. If the public utility must install facilities in order to accommodate the interconnection of the net metering facility, the cost of such facilities will be the responsibility of the applicant.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 183, ~~756~~, ORS 756, ORS 757

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 756.040, ORS 757.300

AMEND: 860-039-0050

RULE SUMMARY: The rule changes update references to current processes and standards.

CHANGES TO RULE:

860-039-0050

Requirements After Approval of a Net Metering Interconnection ¶¶

- (1) A public utility may not require an applicant whose facility meets the criteria for interconnection approval under the ~~Level~~Tier 1 or ~~Level~~Tier 2 interconnection review procedure to perform or pay for additional tests, except if agreed to by the applicant.¶¶
- (2) A public utility may not charge any fee or other charge for connecting to the public utility's distribution system or for operation of a net metering facility for the purposes of net metering, except for the fees provided for under these net metering rules.¶¶
- (3) Once a net metering interconnection has been approved under these net metering rules, the public utility may not require a customer-generator to test or perform maintenance on its facility except for the following:¶¶
- (a) An annual test in which the net metering facility is disconnected from the public utility's equipment to ensure that the inverter stops delivering power to the grid;¶¶
- (b) Any manufacturer-recommended testing or maintenance;¶¶
- (c) Any post-installation testing necessary to ensure compliance with IEEE ~~standards~~1547 or to ensure safety; and¶¶
- (d) The customer-generator replaces a major equipment component that is different from the originally installed model.¶¶
- (4) When an approved net metering facility undergoes maintenance or testing in accordance with the requirements of these net metering rules, the customer-generator must retain written records for seven years documenting the maintenance and the results of testing.¶¶
- (5) A public utility has the right to inspect a customer-generator's facility after interconnection approval is granted, at reasonable hours and with reasonable prior notice to the customer-generator. If the public utility discovers that the net metering facility is not in compliance with the requirements of these net metering rules, the public utility may require the customer-generator to disconnect the net metering facility until compliance is achieved.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 183, ~~756~~,ORS 756, ORS 757

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 756.040, ORS 757.300

AMEND: 860-039-0055

RULE SUMMARY: No changes to this rule; it should not be included in the Notice.

CHANGES TO RULE:

860-039-0055

Net Metering Billing ¶¶

(1) Each monthly billing period, the public utility will charge the customer-generator the minimum monthly charge and all applicable charges for the net electricity that the public utility supplied. Subject to sections (2) and (3) of this rule, if in a monthly billing period a customer-generator supplies to the public utility more electricity than the public utility supplies the customer-generator, the public utility will apply the excess kilowatt-hours as a cumulative credit to the customer-generator's next monthly bill. The credit for the excess kilowatt-hours will be applied at the full retail rate for each rate component on the bill that uses kilowatt-hours as the billing determinant.¶

(2) Unless the public utility and the customer-generator otherwise agree, the annual billing cycle will end at the end of the March billing month of each year. Should the public utility and a customer-generator reach an agreement for a billing cycle ending other than at the end of the March billing month, the public utility must inform the Commission in writing of the alternative billing period within 30 calendar days of the agreement's execution.¶

(3) The alternative billing period must be for a period of twelve months or less.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 183, ~~756~~, ORS 756, ORS 757

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 756.040, ORS 757.300

AMEND: 860-039-0060

RULE SUMMARY: There are no changes to this rule and it should not be included in the notice. (Diane's Summary)

CHANGES TO RULE:

860-039-0060

Excess Energy from Net Metering Facilities ¶¶

(1) Any unused kilowatt-hour credit accumulated by a customer-generator of a public utility at the conclusion of the annual billing cycle will be transferred, in a manner approved by the Commission, to customers enrolled in the public utility's low-income assistance programs. The public utility will value any unused kilowatt-hour credit at the applicable average annual avoided cost tariff rate.¶¶

(2) The customer-generator may not elect to receive a credit or payment for any unused credit accumulated at the conclusion of the annual billing cycle.¶¶

(3) The public utility will report in writing to the Commission by July 1 each year the unused kilowatt-hour credits and the dollar amount transferred to the low-income assistance program in the previous billing year.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 183, ~~756~~, ORS 756, ORS 757

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 756.040, ORS 757.300

AMEND: 860-039-0065

RULE SUMMARY: The change to this rule is a housekeeping correction in section (3). No other changes.

CHANGES TO RULE:

860-039-0065

Aggregation of Meters for Net Metering ¶¶

(1) For the purpose of measuring electricity usage under the net metering program, a public utility must, upon request from a customer-generator, aggregate for billing purposes the meter that is physically attached to the net metering facility ("designated meter") with one or more meters ("aggregated meter") in the manner set out in this rule. This rule is mandatory upon the public utility only when:¶¶

(a) The aggregated meters are located on the customer-generator's premises or property that is contiguous to such premises;¶¶

(b) The electricity recorded by the designated meter and any aggregated meters is for the customer-generator's requirements, and;¶¶

(c) The designated meter and the aggregated meters are served by the same primary feeder at the time of application.¶¶

(2) When a customer-generator aggregates one or more meters that are subject to a different rate schedule than the designated meter, the facilities capacity limit in OAR 860-039-0010 is determined by the rate applicable to the designated meter.¶¶

(3) A customer-generator must give at least 60 days' notice to the utility to request that additional meters be included in meter aggregation. The specific meters must be identified at the time of such request. In the event that more than one additional meter is identified, the customer-generator must designate the rank order for the aggregated meters to which net metering credits are to be applied, and must rank aggregated meters subject to the same rate schedule as the designated meter above any other meters. At least 60 days in advance of the beginning of the next annual billing period, a customer-generator may amend the rank order of the aggregated meters, subject to the requirements of this rule.¶¶

(4) The aggregation of meters will apply only to charges that use kilowatt-hours as the billing determinant. All other charges applicable to each meter account will be billed to the customer-generator.¶¶

(5) The utility will first apply the kWh credit to the charges for the designated meter and then to the charges for the aggregated meters in the rank order specified by the customer-generator. If in a monthly billing period the net metering facility supplies more electricity to the public utility than the energy usage recorded by the customer-generator's designated and aggregated meters, the utility will apply credits to the next monthly bill for the excess kilowatt-hours first to the designated meter, then to aggregated meters in the rank order specified by the customer-generator. Public utilities subject to ORS 757.300(2) through (8) must specify in tariffs how the kWh credits will be applied when rate schedules have non-uniform kWh charges.¶¶

(6) With the Commission's prior approval, a public utility may charge the customer-generator requesting to aggregate meters a reasonable fee to cover the administrative costs of this provision pursuant to a tariff approved by the Commission.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 183, ~~756~~, ORS 756, ORS 757

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 756.040, ORS 757.300

<https://puc-oregon-gov.zoomgov.com/j/1605487244?pwd=TUc5SGNmEsvWlhabU0rR1hSSGJNz09>

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

LAVONNE GRIFFIN-VALADE
SECRETARY OF STATE

CHERYL MYERS
DEPUTY SECRETARY OF STATE
AND TRIBAL LIAISON



ARCHIVES DIVISION

STEPHANIE CLARK
DIRECTOR

800 SUMMER STREET NE
SALEM, OR 97310
503-373-0701

NOTICE OF PROPOSED RULEMAKING
INCLUDING STATEMENT OF NEED & FISCAL IMPACT

CHAPTER 860
PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION

FILED

09/25/2023 3:52 PM
ARCHIVES DIVISION
SECRETARY OF STATE

FILING CAPTION: In the Matter of Revisions to Division 082 Rules Small Generator Interconnection (AR 659)

LAST DAY AND TIME TO OFFER COMMENT TO AGENCY: 11/07/2023 3:00 PM

The Agency requests public comment on whether other options should be considered for achieving the rule's substantive goals while reducing negative economic impact of the rule on business.

CONTACT: Diane Davis
971-375-5082
diane.davis@puc.oregon.gov

PO Box 1088
Salem, OR 97308

Filed By:
Diane Davis
Rules Coordinator

HEARING(S)

Auxiliary aids for persons with disabilities are available upon advance request. Notify the contact listed above.

DATE: 10/17/2023

TIME: 1:30 PM - 2:30 PM

OFFICER: Christopher J. Allwein

REMOTE MEETING DETAILS

MEETING URL: [Click here to join the meeting](#)

PHONE NUMBER: 1-669-254-5252

CONFERENCE ID: 1605487244

SPECIAL INSTRUCTIONS:

Passcode: 3834997028

NEED FOR THE RULE(S)

The original rules addressing interconnection of small generator facilities to the electric grid were adopted in 2009. The proposed rules update the technical specifications for interconnections between small generator facilities and the electric grid and modify the application process to incorporate the new standards and other advancements in technology, streamline the interconnection application process and provide additional flexibility where possible.

HOW TO COMMENT: The comment deadline is November 7, 2023, 3:00 p.m. The Commission encourages participants to file written comments as early as practicable in the proceedings so that other participants can consider and respond to the comments before the deadline. In addition to comments on the proposed rules themselves, the Commission also invites comments on whether other options should be considered for achieving the rule's substantive goals while reducing the negative economic impact of the rule on business.

Please reference Docket No. AR 659 on comments and file them as a Word or PDF attachment to an e-mail addressed to the PUC's Filing Center at PUC.FilingCenter@puc.oregon.gov.

For guidelines on filing and participation, please see OAR 860-001-0140 through 860-001-0160 and 860-001-0200 through 860-001-0250 found online at <http://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/displayDivisionRules.action?selectedDivision=4027>.

Oral comment may be provided at the hearing set for October 17, 2023, at 1:30 p.m., which will be held by Zoom.

Interested persons may review all filings online at <https://apps.puc.state.or.us/edockets/DocketNoLayout.asp?DocketID=23699>.

To be added to the AR 659 service list, send an email to puc.hearings@puc.oregon.gov including your complete contact information and note you'd like to be added to the AR 659 service list.

DOCUMENTS RELIED UPON, AND WHERE THEY ARE AVAILABLE

The 2018 edition of the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE) Standard 1547, titled "IEEE Standard for Interconnection and Interoperability of Distributed Energy Resources with Associated Electric Power Systems Interfaces" and approved by the IEEE SA Standards Board on February 15, 2018, available for review at the Oregon PUC office by appointment or available for purchase at <https://standards.ieee.org/ieee/1547/5915/>.

The 2020 edition of the IEEE Standard 1547.1, titled "IEEE Standard Conformance Test Procedures for Equipment Interconnecting Distributed Resources with Electric Power Systems and Associated Interfaces" and approved by the IEEE SA Standards Board on March 5, 2020, available for review at the Oregon PUC office by appointment or available for purchase at <https://standards.ieee.org/ieee/1547.1/6039/>.

Comments and presentations posted to the Oregon Public Utility Commission docket summary for Docket No. UM 2111, which can be found at <https://apps.puc.state.or.us/edockets/docket.asp?DocketID=22475>

STATEMENT IDENTIFYING HOW ADOPTION OF RULE(S) WILL AFFECT RACIAL EQUITY IN THIS STATE

The modifications to the Public Utility Commission's rules regarding interconnection of small generator facilities to the electric grid have no identifiable impact to racial equity in the State.

FISCAL AND ECONOMIC IMPACT:

The proposed rules are not expected to have negative economic impact to interconnection customers or professional installers. The rules will modify the screening requirements, incorporate updated technical standards, and provide some additional flexibility for changes to a small generator facility during the interconnection application process and related to supplemental review for applications that fail initial review screening. The equipment and labor necessary for interconnections under the updated standards may vary from what is necessary under the current standards. Whether the costs of the equipment and labor decrease or increase will depend on the characteristics of the interconnecting generator when the generator is interconnecting to the electric grid. Overall, the updates are intended to streamline the interconnection application process for small generators and provide additional flexibility, which is intended to have positive economic impacts.

The proposed rules do not alter the amount of pre-construction deposits that a public utility may require after approval of an application to interconnect, but the proposed rules do modify the timing of the due date of deposits. Under the proposed rules, the due date for pre-construction deposits is 15 days after an interconnection application is approved.

COST OF COMPLIANCE:

(1) Identify any state agencies, units of local government, and members of the public likely to be economically affected by the rule(s). (2) Effect on Small Businesses: (a) Estimate the number and type of small businesses subject to the rule(s); (b) Describe the expected reporting, recordkeeping and administrative activities and cost required to comply with the rule(s); (c) Estimate the cost of professional services, equipment supplies, labor and increased administration required to comply with the rule(s).

(1) Professional Installers of small generating facilities, small generating facilities applying to interconnect with the electric grid, and public utilities that provide electric service are likely to be economically affected by the changes to the rules. The technical specifications for interconnections and screening criteria for interconnection will change under the proposed rules, which may impact the cost of individual interconnections. Public utilities providing electric service will be required to update their Utility Interconnection Handbooks to incorporate changes to interconnection standards and requirements in the proposed rules.

(2)(a) Professional installers will be required to comply with the updated technical specifications for interconnections between small generator facilities and the electric grid.

Small business owners seeking to interconnect small generator facilities to the electric grid. According to the U.S. Small Business Administration Office of Advocacy, there were more than 400,000 small businesses in Oregon in 2022.

(2)(b) For small businesses, there is no expected change to reporting, recordkeeping and administrative activities associated with the new rule.

Small business owners that are professional installers of small generator facilities or that seek to interconnect small generator facilities could experience cost impacts from the proposed rules. The new standards may require equipment to interconnect small generator facilities that varies from the equipment that is currently required, which may change the overall cost of individual projects. The type of equipment needed for any interconnection depends on many factors including the size of the interconnecting facility and its location. Accordingly, it is not possible to accurately estimate how the proposed rule updates may change the cost of equipment for small generator interconnections.

(2)(c) The OPUC does not anticipate that the new rules will result in increased administration for small business owners. With respect to equipment costs, the proposed rules include updated technical specifications and requirements for interconnections between small generator facilities and the electric grid. The updated technical specifications may result in increased, or decreased, equipment costs and may change the cost of labor for installation. The overall impact to all small business owners in the business of installing small generator facilities or small business owners seeking to interconnect small generator facilities cannot be estimated.

DESCRIBE HOW SMALL BUSINESSES WERE INVOLVED IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF THESE RULE(S):

The Public Utility Commission Staff conducted a lengthy informal rulemaking process in which the Staff solicited written comment from interested stakeholders and hosted multiple workshops on topics covered by the proposed changes to Chapter 860, division 82 rules and by proposed changes to rules in a companion rulemaking.

WAS AN ADMINISTRATIVE RULE ADVISORY COMMITTEE CONSULTED? NO IF NOT, WHY NOT?

An administrative rule advisory committee was not consulted. Instead, the OPUC Staff conducted an extensive informal process to solicit input from stakeholders while drafting the proposed rules

RULES PROPOSED:

860-082-0005, 860-082-0015, 860-082-0020, 860-082-0025, 860-082-0030, 860-082-0033, 860-082-0035, 860-

082-0040, 860-082-0045, 860-082-0050, 860-082-0055, 860-082-0060, 860-082-0063, 860-082-0065, 860-082-0070

AMEND: 860-082-0005

RULE SUMMARY: The rule changes clarify applicability of this division of rules.

CHANGES TO RULE:

860-082-0005

Scope and Applicability ¶

(1) OAR 860-082-0005 through 860-082-0085 (the "small generator interconnection rules") govern the interconnection of a small generator facility with a nameplate ~~capacity~~ rating of 10 megawatts or less to a public utility's transmission or distribution system. These rules do not apply if the interconnection between the small generator facility and the public utility is subject to the jurisdiction of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC).¶

(2) Except as specified in OAR 860-082-0025(1)(b), the small generator interconnection rules do not apply retroactively to a small generator facility that was interconnected to a public utility's transmission or distribution system prior to the effective date of the small generator interconnection rules (an "existing small generator facility"). These rules become applicable to an existing small generator facility at the expiration of the agreement governing the terms of the interconnection of the existing small generator facility to the interconnected public utility's transmission or distribution system. If an existing agreement does not have an expiration date, then the small generator interconnection rules become applicable to the existing small generator facility 10 years after the effective date of the rules. An existing small generator facility must submit an application under OAR 860-082-0025(1)(e) to the interconnected public utility no later than 60 business days before the date that the small generator interconnection rules become applicable.¶

(3) ~~¶ Except where explicitly noted in OAR 860, division 039,~~ the small generator interconnection rules do not apply to the interconnection of a net metering facility, which is governed by ~~OAR chapter 860, division 039.~~¶

(4) A small generator facility that qualifies as a "small power production facility" under OAR 860-029-0010(25) must also comply with the rules in OAR chapter 860, division 029. If there is a conflict between the small generator interconnection rules and the rules in OAR chapter 860, division 029, then the small generator interconnection rules control.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 183, ~~756,~~ ORS 756, ORS 757

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 756.040, ORS 756.060

RULE SUMMARY: The rule changes incorporate new terms and update definitions to current processes and standards.

CHANGES TO RULE:

860-082-0015

Definitions ¶¶

As used in 860-082-0005 through 860-082-0085:¶¶

- (1) "Adverse system impact" means a negative effect caused by the interconnection of a small generator facility that may compromise the safety or reliability of a transmission or distribution system.¶¶
- (2) "Affected system" means a transmission or distribution system, not owned or operated by the interconnecting public utility, which may experience an adverse system impact from the interconnection of a small generator facility.¶¶
- (3) "~~Aggregated nameplate capacity~~export capacity" means the total combined export capacity of:¶¶
 - (a) A proposed small generator facility;¶¶
 - (b) Existing small generator facilities, net metering facilities, FERC jurisdictional generators, and state jurisdictional generators with a nameplate rating greater than 10 megawatts; and¶¶
 - (c) Small generator facilities, net metering facilities, FERC jurisdictional generators, and state jurisdictional generators with a nameplate rating greater than 10 megawatts that have pending completed applications with higher queue positions than the proposed small generator facility.¶¶
- (4) "~~Aggregated nameplate rating~~" means the total combined nameplate capacity rating of:¶¶
 - (a) A proposed small generator facility;¶¶
 - (b) Existing small generator facilities, net metering facilities, FERC jurisdictional generators, and state jurisdictional generators with a nameplate capacity rating greater than 10 megawatts; and¶¶
 - (c) Small generator facilities, net metering facilities, FERC jurisdictional generators, and state jurisdictional generators with a nameplate capacity rating greater than 10 megawatts that have pending completed applications with higher queue positions than the proposed small generator facility.¶¶
- (45) "Applicant" means a person who has submitted an application to interconnect a small generator facility to a public utility's transmission or distribution system.¶¶
- (56) "Application" means a written request to interconnect a small generator facility with a public utility's transmission or distribution system, which must follow the standard form developed by the public utility and approved by the Commission.¶¶
- (67) "Area network" means a type of distribution system served by multiple transformers interconnected in an electrical network circuit in order to provide high reliability of service. ~~This term has the same meaning as the term "secondary grid network" as defined in IEEE 1547, section 4.1.4.~~¶¶
- (78) "Certificate of completion" means a certificate signed by an applicant and an interconnecting public utility attesting that a small generator facility is complete, meets the applicable requirements of the small generator interconnection rules, ~~and has been inspected, tested~~has passed all applicable federal, state, and local inspection requirements, and is certified as physically ready for operation. A certificate of completion includes the "as built" specifications and initial settings for the small generator facility and its associated interconnection equipment.¶¶
- (89) "Distribution system" means the portion of an electric system that delivers electricity from transformation points on the transmission system to points of connection on a customer's premises.¶¶
- (910) "~~Energy storage system~~" means a mechanical, electrical, or electrochemical means to store and release electrical energy, and its associated interconnection and control equipment. For the purposes of these rules, an energy storage system can be considered part of a small generator facility or a small generator facility in whole that operates in parallel with the distribution system. ¶¶
- (11) "Export capacity" means the amount of power that can be transferred from the small generator facility to the distribution system. Export capacity is either the nameplate rating, or a lower amount if limited using an acceptable means identified in OAR 860-082-0033.¶¶
- (12) "Fault current" means an electrical current that flows through a circuit during a fault condition. A fault condition occurs when one or more electrical conductors contact ground or each other. Types of faults include phase to ground, double-phase to ground, three-phase to ground, phase to phase, and three-phase.¶¶
- (103) "Field-tested equipment" means interconnection equipment that is identical to equipment that was approved by the interconnecting public utility for a different small generator facility interconnection ~~under Tier 4 review and successfully completed a witness test within three years before the date of the submission of the current application.~~¶¶
(14) under the requirements included in the current version of the public utility's interconnection requirements handbook before the date of the submission of the current application.¶¶

(14) Host load" means electrical power, less the small generator facility auxiliary load, consumed by the customer at the location where the small generator facility is connected.¶

(15) "IEEE 1547" means the standards published in the 200318 edition of the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE) Standard 1547, titled "InterconnectingEEE Standard for Interconnection and Interoperability of Distributed Energy Resources with Associated Electric Power Systems Interfaces" and approved by the IEEE SA Standards Board on JuneFebruary 125, 200318.¶

(126) "IEEE 1547.1" means the standards published in the 20205 edition of the IEEE Standard 1547.1, titled "IEEE Standard Conformance Test Procedures for Equipment Interconnecting Distributed Resources with Electric Power Systems and Associated Interfaces" and approved by the IEEE SA Standards Board on June 9, 2005March 5, 2020.¶

(17) "Inadvertent export" means the unscheduled export of active power from a small generator facility, exceeding a specified magnitude and for a limited duration, generally due to fluctuations in load-following behavior.¶

(138) "Interconnection agreement" means a contract between an applicant or interconnection customer and an interconnecting public utility that governs the interconnection of a small generator facility to the public utility's transmission or distribution system and the ongoing operation of the small generator facility after it is interconnected. An interconnection agreement will follow the standard form agreement developed by the public utility and filed with the Commission.¶

(149) "Interconnection customer" means a person with one or more small generator facilities interconnected to a public utility's transmission or distribution system.¶

(1520) "Interconnection equipment" means a group of components or an integrated system provided by an interconnection customer or applicant to connect a small generator facility to a public utility's transmission or distribution system.¶

(216) "Interconnection facilities" means the facilities and equipment required by a public utility to accommodate the interconnection of a small generator facility to the public utility's transmission or distribution system and used exclusively for that interconnection. Interconnection facilities do not include system upgrades.¶

(4722) "Interconnection facilities study" means a study conducted by a utility for the customer-generator that determines the additional or upgraded distribution system facilities, the cost of those facilities, and the time schedule required to interconnect the small generator facility to the public utility's distribution system.¶

(23) "Interconnection service" means service provided by an interconnecting public utility to an interconnection customer.¶

(1824) "Lab-tested equipment" means interconnection equipment that has been designed to comply with IEEE 1547, tested in accordance with IEEE 1547.1, and certified and labeled as compliant with these IEEE standards at the point of manufacture by a nationally recognized testing lab. For interconnection equipment to be considered lab-tested equipment under these rules, the equipment must be used in a manner consistent with the certification.¶

(4925) "Limited export" means the exporting capability of a small generator facility whose export capacity is limited by the use of any configuration or operating mode described in OAR 860-082-0033.¶

(26) "Line section" means that portion of a public utility's transmission or distribution system that is connected to an interconnection customer and bounded by automatic sectionalizing devices or the end of a distribution line.¶

(207) "Minor equipment modification" means a change to a small generator facility or its associated interconnection equipment that:¶

(a) Does not affect the application of the approval requirements in Tiers 1, 2, or 3;¶

(b) DoesIncludes a change or replacement of equipment that is a like-kind substitution in size, ratings, impedances, efficiencies, or capabilities of the equipment specified in the original interconnection application. Minor variations that do not affect safety, performance, or interoperability are acceptable; ¶

(b) Includes a replacement of existing inverters with new inverters that conform to standards in effect at the time of replacement;¶

(c) Includes a reduction in the nameplate rating and/or export capacity of the small generator facility of 10 percent or less provided that a change made to a small generator facility with a pending completed application must not adversely impact lower queued projects; or¶

(d) For changes not specified in subsections (a) through (c) of this definition, the change must not, in the interconnecting public utility's reasonable opinion, have a material impact on the safety or reliability of the public utility's transmission or distribution system or an affected system; and,¶

(e) Does not affect the nameplate capacity of a small generator facilityApplicants must inform the interconnecting public utility of minor equipment modifications, prior to making the change.¶

(218) "Nameplate capacity rating" means the full-load electrical quantities assigned by a facility's designer to a generator and its prime mover or other piece of electrical equipment, such as transformers and circuit breakers, under standardized conditions, as expressed in amperes, kilovoltamperes, kilowatts, volts, megawatts, or other

appropriate units. Nameplate capacity is usually indicated on a nameplate attached to the individual devicesum total of maximum rated power output of all of a small generator facility's constituent generating units and/or energy storage systems as identified on the manufacturer nameplate in Alternating Current (AC), regardless of whether it is limited by any approved means. For a generating unit that uses an inverter to change direct current energy supplied to an AC quantity, the nameplate rating will be the manufacturer's AC output rating for the inverter(s).¶

~~(229)~~ "Nationally recognized testing laboratory" or "NRTL" means a qualified private organization that performs independent safety testing and product certification. Each NRTL must meet the requirements set forth by the United States Occupational Safety and Health Administration.¶

~~(230)~~ "Net metering facility" has the meaning set forth in ORS 757.300(1)(d).¶

~~(31)~~ "Non-export or non-exporting" means when the small generator facility is sized and designed and operated using any of the methods in OAR 860-082-0033, such that the output is used for host load only and no electrical energy (except for any inadvertent export) is transferred from the small generator facility to the distribution system.¶

~~(324)~~ "Pending completed application" means an application for interconnection of a small generator facility, a net metering facility, or a FERC jurisdictional generator that an interconnecting public utility has deemed complete.¶

~~(2533)~~ "Person" has the meaning set forth in OAR 860-011-0035(8).¶

~~(26)~~ includes individuals, joint ventures, partnerships, corporations and associations or their officers, employees, agents, lessees, assignees, trustees or receivers, as supplemented to include governmental entities.¶

~~(34)~~ "Point of interconnection" means the point where a small generator facility is electrically connected to a public utility's transmission or distribution system. This term has the same meaning as "point of common coupling" as defined in IEEE 1547, section 3.1.13. This term does not have the same meaning as "point.¶

~~(35)~~ "Power control system" means systems or devices which electronically limit ofr common coupling" as defined in OAR 860-039-0005(3)(p)ntrol steady state currents to a programmable limit.¶

~~(2736)~~ "Primary line" means a distribution line with an operating voltage greater than 600 volts.¶

~~(2837)~~ "Public utility" has the meaning set forth in ORS 757.005 and is limited to a public utility that provides electric service.¶

~~(2938)~~ "Queue position" means the rank of a pending completed application, relative to all other pending completed applications, that is established based on the date and time that the interconnecting public utility receives the completed applications, including application fees.¶

~~(309)~~ "Reference point of applicability" (RPA) means a location proximate to the generation where the interconnection and interoperability performance requirements, as specified by IEEE 1547, apply.¶

~~(40)~~ "Relevant minimum load" means the lowest measured load coincident with the generating facility's production. For solar-only facilities, this is the daytime minimum load (i.e., 10 a.m. to 4 p.m. for fixed panel systems and 8 a.m. to 6 p.m. for PV systems utilizing tracking systems).¶

~~(41)~~ "Scoping meeting" means an initial meeting between representatives of an applicant and an interconnecting public utility that is conducted to discuss the RPA; to discuss alternative interconnection options; to exchange information, including any relevant transmission or distribution system data and earlier studies that would reasonably be expected to affect the interconnection options; to analyze such information; and to determine the potentially feasible points of interconnection.¶

~~(3142)~~ "Secondary line" means a service line with an operating voltage of 600 volts or less.¶

~~(432)~~ "Small generator facility" means a facility that operates in parallel with the distribution system for the production of electrical energy that has a nameplate capacity of 10 megawatts or less. A small generator facility does not include interconnection maximum installed instantaneous power production capacity of the completed Facility, expressed in MW (AC), and measured at the Point of Interconnection of 10 MW, when operated in compliance with the Generation Interconnection Agreement and consistent with the recommended power factor and operating parameters provided by the manufacturer of the generator, inverters, energy storage devices, or other equipment, interconnection facilities, or system upgrades within the Facility affecting the Facility's capability to deliver useful electric energy to the grid at the Point of Interconnection.¶

~~(3344)~~ "Spot network" means a type of transmission or distribution system that uses two or more intertied transformers protected by network protectors to supply an electrical network circuit. A spot network may be used to supply power to a single customer or a small group of customers.¶

~~(345)~~ "System upgrade" means an addition or modification to a public utility's transmission or distribution system or to an affected system that is required to accommodate the interconnection of a small generator facility.¶

~~(3546)~~ "Transmission line" means any electric line operating at or above 50,000 volts.¶

~~(3647)~~ "Transmission system" means a public utility's high voltage facilities and equipment used to transport bulk power or to provide transmission service under the public utility's open access transmission tariff.¶

~~(3748)~~ "Witness test" means the on-site visual verification of the interconnection installation and commissioning as required in IEEE 1547, sections 5.3 and 5.4. For interconnection equipment that does not meet the definition of

lab-tested equipment, the witness test may, at the discretion of the public utility, also include a ~~system design and production type test and small generator facility~~ evaluation according to IEEE 1547, sections 5.1 and 5.2, as applicable to the specific interconnection equipment used.¶

~~(3849) "Written notice" means a notice required by the small generator interconn~~required notice sent by the public utility via electronic mail if the customer-generator has provided a functioning electronic mail address. If the customer-generator has not provided a functioning electronic mail address or has requested in writing to be notified by United States mail, then written notices from the public utility must be sent via First Class United States mail to the notification address provided by the customer-generator. The public utility is deemed to have fulfilled its duty to respond under these rules on the day it sends the customer-generator notice via electronic mail or deposits such notice in First Class mail. The customer-generator is responsible for informing the public utility of any changes to its notification address.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 183, ~~756~~, ORS 756, ORS 757

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 756.040, ORS 756.060

AMEND: 860-082-0020

RULE SUMMARY: The changes to this rule are housekeeping in nature.

CHANGES TO RULE:

860-082-0020

Pre-Application Process ¶

(1) Each public utility must designate an employee or office from which relevant information about the small generator interconnection process, the public utility's transmission or distribution system, and affected systems may be obtained through informal requests for a potential applicant proposing a small generator facility at a specific site. The public utility must post contact information for the employee or office on the public utility's website. The information provided by the public utility in response to a potential applicant's request must include relevant existing studies and other materials that may be used to understand the feasibility of interconnecting a small generator facility at a particular point on the public utility's transmission or distribution system. The public utility must comply with reasonable requests for access to or copies of such information, except to the extent that providing such materials would violate security requirements, confidentiality obligations to third parties, or be contrary to federal or state regulations. The public utility may require a person to sign a confidentiality agreement if required to protect confidential or proprietary information. For a potential small generator facilities requiring Tier 4 review, and at the potential applicant's request, the public utility must meet with the potential applicant to exchange information. A public utility employee with relevant technical expertise must attend any such meeting.¶

(2) A person requesting information under section (1) must reimburse the public utility for the reasonable costs of gathering and copying the requested information.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 183, ~~756~~, ORS 756, ORS 757

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 756.040, ORS 756.060

RULE SUMMARY: The changes to this rule provide clarity to the application process.

CHANGES TO RULE:

860-082-0025

Applications to Interconnect a Small Generator Facility ¶¶

(1) A person may not interconnect a small generator facility to a public utility's transmission or distribution system without authorization from the public utility.¶¶

(a) A person proposing to interconnect a new small generator facility to a public utility's transmission or distribution system must submit an application to the public utility.¶¶

(b) A person with an existing interconnected small generator facility who proposes to make any change to the facility, other than a minor equipment modification, must submit an application to the public utility. This includes changes affecting the nameplate capacity rating of the existing interconnected small generator facility or the output capacity authorized in the agreement governing the terms of the interconnection.¶¶

(c) An applicant with a pending completed application to interconnect a small generator facility must submit a new application if the applicant proposes to make any change to the small generator facility other than a minor equipment modification. This includes changes affecting the nameplate capacity rating of the proposed small generator facility.¶¶

(A) The applicant relinquishes the queue position assigned to the pending completed application, and the public utility assigns a new queue position based on the date and time the public utility receives the new application.¶¶

(B) If the new application is submitted within 30 business days of the date of submission of the original application, then the public utility must apply the original application fee to the application fee required for the new application.¶¶

(d) A person with a pending completed application to interconnect a net metering facility or a FERC jurisdictional generator who proposes to change the facility to a small generator facility must submit a new application under the small generator interconnection rules.¶¶

(A) The applicant relinquishes the queue position assigned to the pending completed application, and the public utility assigns a new queue position based on the date and time that the interconnecting public utility receives the small generator interconnection application.¶¶

(B) If the small generator interconnection application is received within 30 business days of the date of submission of the original net metering or FERC jurisdictional generator interconnection application, then the public utility must apply the original application fee to the application fee required for the new application.¶¶

(e) An interconnection customer must submit an application to renew an existing small generator facility interconnection before the expiration of the interconnection agreement between the interconnection customer and the interconnected public utility. The application must be submitted no later than 60 business days before the interconnection agreement's expiration date.¶¶

(A) A public utility may not unreasonably refuse to grant expedited review of an application to renew an existing small generator facility interconnection if there have been no changes to the small generator facility other than minor equipment modifications.¶¶

(B) A public utility may not require an existing small generator facility to undergo Tier 4 review if there have been no changes to the small generator facility other than minor equipment modifications and there have been no material changes to the portion of the public utility's transmission or distribution system affected by the interconnection of the small generator facility.¶¶

(C) A public utility may require the interconnection customer to pay for interconnection facilities, system upgrades, or changes to the small generator facility or its associated interconnection equipment that are necessary to bring the small generator facility interconnection into compliance with the small generator interconnection rules or IEEE 1547 or 1547.1.¶¶

(D) If the public utility has not completed its review of an application to renew and a new interconnection agreement is not signed before the expiration of the current interconnection agreement governing the interconnection of an existing small generator facility to a public utility's transmission or distribution system, then the current interconnection agreement remains in effect until the renewal process is completed and a new interconnection agreement is signed.¶¶

(2) All applications must be made using the appropriate application form and must follow the standard form applications developed by the public utility and approved by the Commission. The public utility must provide separate application forms for review under Tier 1 and for review under Tiers 2, 3, and 4. The Tier 1 application form must include an unexecuted interconnection agreement. The public utility must provide a copy of an application form to any person upon request and must post copies of the application forms on the public utility's

website.¶¶

(a) Applicants must use the Tier 1 application form for a small generator facilities that ~~will not be interconnected with a transmission line and will use lab-tested, inverter-based interconnection equipment with a nameplate capacity of 25 kilowatts or less~~ meets the requirements of OAR 860-082-0045(1).¶¶

(b) ~~All applicants must~~ use the form for review under Tiers 2, 3, or 4 for interconnection of all other small generator facilities application form for Tiers 2, 3, or 4.¶¶

(3) A public utility may require payment of a nonrefundable application processing fee. The amount of the fee depends upon the review tier requested in the application and is intended to cover the reasonable costs of processing and evaluating the application.¶¶

(a) The application fee may not exceed \$100 for Tier 1 review, \$500 for Tier 2 review, and \$1000 for review under Tiers 3 and 4.¶¶

(b) An applicant must pay the reasonable costs incurred by the public utility to perform any studies and engineering evaluations permitted by these rules and necessary to evaluate the proposed application to interconnect. Before the public utility may assess any costs in excess of the application fee, the public utility must receive written authorization from the applicant. If the applicant does not authorize the additional costs, then the application is deemed withdrawn and the original application fee is forfeited.¶¶

(c) If an application is denied at one review tier, and the applicant resubmits the application at a higher review tier within 15 business days after the date the applicant received notification of the denial, then the applicant maintains the queue position assigned to the original application and the public utility must apply the original application fee and any other fees paid in conjunction with the original application to the fees applicable to the resubmitted application.¶¶

(4) If an applicant proposes to interconnect multiple small generator facilities to the public utility's transmission or distribution system at a single point of interconnection, then the public utility must evaluate the applications based on the combined total nameplate capacity rating for all of the small generator facilities. If the combined total nameplate capacity rating exceeds 10 megawatts, then the small generator interconnection rules do not apply.¶¶

(5) An applicant must provide documentation of site control with an interconnection application. Site control may be demonstrated through ownership of the site, a leasehold interest in the site, or an option or other right to develop the site for the purpose of constructing the small generator facility. Site control may be documented by a property tax bill, deed, lease agreement, or other legally binding contract.¶¶

(6) A public utility may propose to interconnect multiple small generator facilities at a single point of interconnection to minimize costs, and an affected applicant or interconnection customer may not unreasonably refuse such a proposal. An applicant or interconnection customer may, however, elect to maintain a separate point of interconnection if the applicant or interconnection customer agrees to pay the entire cost of the separate interconnection facilities.¶¶

(7) Application review process.¶¶

(a) Within 10 business days of receipt of an application to interconnect a small generator facility, the interconnecting public utility must provide written notice to the applicant stating whether the application is complete.¶¶

(A) If the application is incomplete, then the public utility must provide the applicant with a detailed list of the information needed to complete the application. An application is deemed complete when the public utility receives the listed information. The applicant must provide the listed information within 10 business days of receipt of the list or the application is deemed withdrawn.¶¶

(B) If a public utility does not have a record of receipt of an application or cannot locate an application, then the applicant must provide an additional copy of the application to the public utility. If the applicant can demonstrate that a complete application was originally delivered to the public utility at a particular time on a particular date, then the public utility must assign a queue position to the application based on the original time and date of delivery.¶¶

(b) Once the public utility deems an application to be complete, the public utility must assign the application a queue position. An applicant must meet all applicable deadlines in the small generator interconnection rules to maintain its queue position unless the deadlines have been waived by agreement with the interconnecting public utility or by Commission order.¶¶

(c) If the public utility determines during the evaluation process that supplemental or clarifying information is required, then the public utility must request the information from the applicant, and the applicant must provide the requested information within 15 business days of the request, or the application will be deemed withdrawn. The time necessary to complete the evaluation of the application may be extended by the time required for the receipt of the additional information. Requests for information do not affect the applicant's queue position.¶¶

(d) A public utility must use IEEE 1547 and IEEE 1547.1 to evaluate small generator interconnection applications unless otherwise specified in these rules or unless the Commission grants a waiver to use different or additional standards.¶¶

~~(e) A public utility must provide an executable interconnection agreement no later than five Reference Point of Applicability Review.~~¶

~~(A) For Tier 4 applications, the public utility will raise any concerns about the RPA in the scoping meeting.~~¶

~~(B) For Tier 1 through Tier 3 applications, the public utility notifies an applicant if the proposed RPA is appropriate when it provides screen results. If the RPA is inappropriate the public utility will notify the applicant in writing, including an explanation as to why it requires correction. The applicant must resubmit the application with the corrected RPA within ten business days after the date of approval of an interconnection application. The i. If the applicant does not provide the appropriate RPA, a request for an extension of time, or request an applicant options meeting within the deadline, the application will be deemed withdrawn.~~¶

~~(f) Interconnection a Agreement must follow the standard form agreement developed by the public utility and approved by the Commission. T. If the proposed interconnection is approved and requires no construction of facilities by the public utility, the public utility must provide the applicant an executed interconnection agreement no later than five business days after approving the interconnection. If the proposed interconnection is approved and requires construction of facilities, the public utility must provide the applicant an executed interconnection agreement, along with a non-binding good faith cost estimate and construction schedule for any required upgrades, no later than 15 business days after approving the interconnection. If the applicant ~~must~~ does not return an ~~execut~~ countersigned interconnection agreement and any required deposit to the public utility, or request negotiation of a non-standard interconnection agreement, within 15 business days of receipt of an executed interconnection agreement, the application is deemed withdrawn.~~¶

~~(A) An applicant or a public utility is entitled to the terms in the standard form agreement, but may choose to negotiate for different terms.~~¶

~~(B) If negotiated changes to a standard interconnection agreement are materially inconsistent with the small generator interconnection rules, then the applicant and the public utility must seek Commission approval of the negotiated interconnection agreement.~~¶

~~(fg) The applicant must provide the public utility written notice at least 20 business days before the planned commissioning for the small generator facility.~~¶

~~(A) The public utility has the option of conducting a witness test at a mutually agreeable time within 10 business days of the scheduled commissioning receipt of the certificate of completion.~~¶

~~(B) The public utility must provide written notice to the applicant indicating whether the public utility plans to conduct a witness test or will waive the witness test within three business days of receipt of the certificate of completion.~~¶

~~(C) If the public utility notifies the applicant that it plans to conduct a witness test, but fails to conduct the witness test within 10 business days of the scheduled commissioning date receipt of the certificate of completion or within a time otherwise agreed upon by the applicant and the public utility, then the witness test is deemed waived.~~¶

~~(D) If the witness test is conducted and is successful, or if the public utility waives the witness test, the public utility must provide the countersigned certificate of completion within five business days of conducting the witness test or waiver of witness test.~~¶

~~(E) If the witness test is conducted and is not acceptable to the public utility, then the public utility must provide written notice to the applicant describing the deficiencies within five business days of conducting the witness test. The public utility must give the applicant 20 business days from the date of the applicant's receipt of the notice to resolve the deficiencies. If the applicant fails to resolve the deficiencies to the reasonable satisfaction of the public utility within 20 business days or at a mutually agreeable time, then the application is deemed withdrawn.~~¶

~~(gh) A public utility must meet all applicable deadlines in the small generator interconnection rules unless the deadlines have been waived by agreement with an applicant or interconnection customer or by Commission order. If the public utility cannot meet an applicable deadline, then the public utility must provide written notice to the applicant or interconnection customer explaining the reasons for the failure to meet the deadline and an estimated alternative deadline. A public utility's failure to meet an applicable deadline does not affect an applicant's queue position.~~

Statutory/Other Authority: ~~ORS 183, 756,~~ ORS 756, ORS 757

Statutes/Other Implemented: ~~ORS 756.040,~~ ORS 756.060

AMEND: 860-082-0030

RULE SUMMARY: The changes to this rule update references and clarify process.

CHANGES TO RULE:

860-082-0030

Construction, Operation, Maintenance, and Testing of Small Generator Facilities ¶¶

(1) IEEE 1547. An interconnection customer or applicant must construct, operate, and maintain a small generator facility and its associated interconnection equipment in compliance with IEEE 1547 and 1547.1. New interconnection applicants will be required to use IEEE 1547-2018 compliant equipment by no earlier than January 1, 2024. For purposes of OAR 860-082-0030, capitalized terms not otherwise defined in Division 082 have the meaning set forth in IEEE 1547.¶¶

(a) Small generator facilities compliant with IEEE 1547 must conform with the following minimum requirements:¶¶

(A) Abnormal performance requirements: Category III Ride-Through capabilities must be supported for inverter-based small generator facilities. Rotating small generator facilities must meet Category I Ride-Through capabilities, at minimum.¶¶

(B) Normal performance requirements: Inverter-based small generator facilities must meet reactive power requirements of IEEE 1547 Category B. Rotating small generator facilities must meet Category A, and may meet Category B.¶¶

(C) Inverter-based interconnection equipment will be tested to and certified as being compliant with UL 1741 Third Edition, Supplement SB, by a NRTL. Equipment that is not certified by a NRTL may require additional evaluation and commissioning testing to confirm compliance with IEEE 1547.¶¶

(b) Interconnection requirements handbook. Each public utility must post an interconnection requirements handbook on its public website. Prior to revising its interconnection requirements handbook, a public utility must provide public notice and an opportunity to comment, and the public utility must respond to any comments received.¶¶

(c) Preferred default settings. A public utility must allow small generator facilities to interconnect using the public utility's preferred default settings, except when the application reviewed under Tier 4, OAR 860-082-0060, or the application fails the Tier 1, Tier 2, or Tier 3 approval criteria in OAR 860-082-0045(2), OAR 860-082-0050(2), or OAR 860-082-0055(2). Interconnection requirements handbooks must include preferred default settings. As applicable, the following must be identified in the interconnection requirements handbook:¶¶

(A) Voltage and frequency trip settings;¶¶

(B) Frequency droop settings;¶¶

(C) Activated reactive power control function and default settings;¶¶

(D) Voltage active power (volt-watt) mode activation and default settings; and¶¶

(E) Communication protocols and ports requirements.¶¶

(2) The applicant must provide written notice to the interconnecting public utility 10 business days before beginning operation of an approved small generator facility.¶¶

(3) Before beginning operation of a small generator facility, an interconnection customer or applicant must receive approval of the facility under the small generator interconnection rules and must execute an interconnection agreement with the interconnecting public utility. Applicants or interconnection customers are entitled to a ~~maximum~~ 20-year term for an interconnection agreement, or, if the interconnection customer and the public utility have entered a separate Power Purchase Agreement for a specified period of time, to a term that coincides with the length of such Power Purchase Agreement..¶¶

(4) A small generator facility must be capable of being isolated from the interconnecting public utility's transmission or distribution system. An interconnection customer may not disable an isolation device without the prior written consent of the interconnected public utility.¶¶

(a) For a small generator facilitiesy interconnecting to a primary line, the interconnection customer or applicant must use a lockable, visible-break isolation device readily accessible to the public utility.¶¶

(b) For a small generator facilitiesy interconnecting to a secondary line, the interconnection customer or applicant must use a lockable isolation device that is readily accessible by the public utility. The status of the isolation device must be clearly indicated. An exception from the requirement to use a lockable isolation device is allowed for a small generator facility that has a maximum total output of 30 amperes or less; is connected to a secondary line; uses lab-tested, inverter-based interconnection equipment; and is interconnected to the distribution system through a metered service owned by the interconnected public utility. In this limited case, the meter base may serve as the required isolation device if it is readily accessible to the public utility.¶¶

(A) A draw-out type circuit breaker with the provision for padlocking at the draw-out position can be considered an isolation device.¶¶

(B) The interconnection customer or applicant may elect to provide the public utility access to an isolation device that is contained in a building or area that may be unoccupied and locked or not otherwise readily accessible to the public utility. The interconnection customer or applicant must provide a lockbox capable of accepting a lock provided by the public utility that provides ready access to the isolation device. The interconnection customer or customer must install the lockbox in a location that is readily accessible by the public utility and must affix a placard in a location acceptable to the public utility that provides clear instructions to utility personnel on how to access the isolation device.¶

(c) Other than the exception in (4)(b), all isolation devices must be installed, owned, and maintained by the interconnection customer or applicant; must be capable of interrupting the full load of the small generator facility; and must be located between the small generator facility and the point of interconnection.¶

(5) An interconnecting public utility must have access to an interconnection customer's or an applicant's premises for any reasonable purpose related to an interconnection application or an interconnected small generator facility. The public utility must request access at reasonable hours and upon reasonable notice. In the event of an emergency or hazardous condition, the public utility may access the interconnection customer's or applicant's premises at any time without prior notice, but the public utility must provide written notice within five business days after entering the interconnection customer's or applicant's premises that describes the date of entry, the purpose of entry, and any actions performed on the premises.¶

(6) When a small generator facility undergoes maintenance or testing in compliance with the small generator interconnection rules, IEEE 1547, or IEEE 1547.1, the interconnection customer must retain written records for at least seven years documenting the maintenance and the results of testing. The interconnection customer must provide copies of these records to the interconnected public utility upon request.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 183, ~~756~~, ORS 756, ORS 757

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 756.040, ORS 756.060

RULE SUMMARY: This new rule establishes requirements for use of export controls for small generator facilities.

CHANGES TO RULE:

860-082-0033

Export Controls

(1) If a small generator facility uses any configuration or operating mode in section (3) to limit the export of electrical power across the Point of Interconnection, then the export capacity is only the amount capable of being exported (not including any Inadvertent export). To prevent impacts on system safety and reliability, any inadvertent export from a small generator facility must comply with the limits identified in this rule. The export capacity specified by the interconnection customer in the application will subsequently be included as a limitation in the interconnection agreement.¶¶

(2) An application proposing to use a configuration or operating mode to limit the export of electrical power across the Point of Interconnection must include proposed control and/or protection settings.¶¶

(3) Acceptable export control methods.¶¶

(a) Export control methods for non-exporting small generator facility:¶¶

(A) Reverse Power Protection (Device 32R): To limit export of power across the Point of Interconnection, a reverse power protective function is implemented using a utility grade protective relay. The default setting for this protective function is 0.1 percent (export) of the service transformer's nominal base nameplate power rating, with a maximum 2.0 second time delay to limit inadvertent export. When a project is located on a circuit using high speed reclosing the public utility may require a maximum delay of less than 2.0 seconds to safely facilitate the reclosing.¶¶

(B) Minimum Power Protection (Device 32F): To limit export of power across the Point of Interconnection, a minimum import protective function is implemented utilizing a utility grade protective relay. The default setting for this protective function is 5 percent (import) of the small generator facility's total nameplate rating, with a maximum 2.0 second time delay to limit Inadvertent export. When a project is located on a circuit using high speed reclosing the public utility may require a maximum delay of less than 2.0 seconds to safely facilitate the reclosing.¶¶

(C) Relative distributed energy resource rating: This option requires the small generator facility's nameplate rating to be so small in comparison to its host facility's minimum load that the use of additional protective functions is not required to ensure that power will not be exported to the electric distribution system. This option requires the small generator facility's nameplate rating to be no greater than 50 percent of the interconnection customer's verifiable minimum host load during relevant hours over the past 12 months. This option is not available for interconnections to area networks or spot networks.¶¶

(b) Export control methods for limited export small generator facility.¶¶

(A) Directional Power Protection (Device 32): To limit export of power across the Point of Interconnection, a directional power protective function is implemented using a utility grade protective relay. The default setting for this protective function is be the export capacity value, with a maximum 2.0 second time delay to limit Inadvertent export. When a project is located on a circuit using high speed reclosing the public utility may require a maximum delay of less than 2.0 seconds to safely facilitate the reclosing.¶¶

(B) Configured power rating: A reduced output power rating utilizing the power rating configuration setting may be used to ensure the small generator facility does not generate power beyond a certain value lower than the nameplate rating. The configuration setting corresponds to the active or apparent power ratings in Table 28 of IEEE Std 1547-2018, as described in subclause 10.4. A local small generator facility communication interface is not required to utilize the configuration setting as long as it can be set by other means. The reduced power rating may be indicated by means of a nameplate rating replacement, a supplemental adhesive nameplate rating tag to indicate the reduced nameplate rating, or a signed attestation from the customer confirming the reduced capacity.¶¶

(c) Export control methods for non-exporting small generator facility or limited export small generator facility.¶¶

(A) Certified power control systems: Small generator facility may use certified power control systems to limit export. Small generator facility utilizing this option must use a power control system and inverter certified per UL 1741 by a NRTL with a maximum open loop response time of no more than 30 seconds to limit Inadvertent export. NRTL testing to the UL Power Control System Certification Requirement Decision must be accepted until similar test procedures for power control systems are included in a standard. This option is not available for interconnections to area networks or spot networks.¶¶

(B) Agreed-upon means: Small generator facility may be designed with other control systems and/or protective functions to limit export and inadvertent export if mutual agreement is reached with the Distribution Provider. The limits may be based on technical limitations of the interconnection customer's equipment or the electric distribution system equipment. To ensure inadvertent export remains within mutually agreed-upon limits, the

interconnection customer may use an uncertified power control system, an internal transfer relay, energy management system, or other customer facility hardware or software if approved by the Distribution Provider.
Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 183, ORS 756, ORS 757
Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 756.040, ORS 756.060

AMEND: 860-082-0035

RULE SUMMARY: The rule change clarifies that the study costs in section one applies to Tier 4 applications.

CHANGES TO RULE:

860-082-0035

Cost Responsibility ¶¶

(1) Study costs. Whenever a study is required under Tier 4 of the small generator interconnection rules, the applicant must pay the public utility for the reasonable costs incurred in performing the study. The public utility must base study costs on the scope of work determined and documented in the feasibility study agreement, the system impact study agreement, or the facilities study agreement, as applicable. The estimated engineering costs used in calculating study costs must not exceed \$100 per hour. A public utility may adjust the \$100 hourly rate once in January of each year to account for inflation and deflation as measured by the Consumer Price Index. Before beginning a study, a public utility may require an applicant to pay a deposit of up to 50 percent of the estimated costs to perform the study or \$1,000, whichever is less.¶¶

(2) Interconnection facilities. For interconnection review under Tier 4, a public utility must identify the interconnection facilities necessary to safely interconnect the small generator facility with the public utility's transmission or distribution system. The applicant must pay the reasonable costs of the interconnection facilities. The public utility constructs, owns, operates, and maintains the interconnection facilities.¶¶

(3) Interconnection equipment. An applicant or interconnection customer must pay all expenses associated with constructing, owning, operating, maintaining, repairing, and replacing its interconnection equipment. Interconnection equipment is constructed, owned, operated, and maintained by the applicant or interconnection customer.¶¶

(4) System upgrades. A public utility must design, procure, construct, install, and own any system upgrades to the public utility's transmission or distribution system necessitated by the interconnection of a small generator facility. A public utility must identify any adverse system impacts on an affected system caused by the interconnection of a small generator facility to the public utility's transmission or distribution system. The public utility must determine what actions or upgrades are required to mitigate these impacts. Such mitigation measures are considered system upgrades as defined in these rules. The applicant must pay the reasonable costs of any system upgrades.¶¶

(5) A public utility may not begin work on interconnection facilities or system upgrades before an applicant receives the public utility's good-faith, non-binding cost estimate and provides written notice to the public utility that the applicant accepts the estimate and agrees to pay the costs. A public utility may require an applicant to pay a deposit before beginning work on the interconnection facilities or system upgrades.¶¶

(a) If an applicant agrees to make progress payments on a schedule established by the applicant and the interconnecting public utility, then the public utility may require the applicant to pay a deposit of up to 25 percent of the estimated costs or \$10,000, whichever is less. The public utility and the applicant must agree on progress billing, final billing, and payment schedules before the public utility begins work.¶¶

(b) If an applicant does not agree to make progress payments, then the public utility may require the applicant to pay a deposit of up to 100 percent of the estimated costs. If the actual costs are lower than the estimated costs, then the public utility must refund the unused portion of the deposit to the applicant within 20 business days after the actual costs are determined.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 183, ~~756~~, ORS 756, ORS 757

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 756.040, ORS 756.060

AMEND: 860-082-0040

RULE SUMMARY: The rule changes update "nameplate capacity" to "nameplate rating."

CHANGES TO RULE:

860-082-0040

Insurance ¶

(1) A public utility may not require an applicant or an interconnection customer with a small generator facility with a nameplate ~~capacity~~rating of 200 kilowatts or less to obtain liability insurance in order to interconnect with the public utility's transmission or distribution system.¶

(2) A public utility may require an applicant or an interconnection customer with a small generator facility with a nameplate ~~capacity~~rating greater than 200 kilowatts to obtain prudent amounts of general liability insurance in order to interconnect to the public utility's transmission or distribution system.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 183, ~~756~~, ORS 756, ORS 757

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 756.040, ORS 756.060

RULE SUMMARY: The rule changes update the screening process and clarify the Tier 1 Application for Interconnection review process.

CHANGES TO RULE:

860-082-0045

Tier 1 Interconnection Review ¶¶

(1) A public utility must use the Tier 1 review procedures ~~for~~when an applicant submits an application to interconnect a small generator facility that meets the following requirements:¶¶

~~(a) The small generator facility must use lab-tested, inverter-based interconnection equipment;¶¶~~

~~(b) The small generator have an export capacity not greater or facility must have a nameplate capacity of 25 kilowatts or less than 25 kilowatts, a nameplate rating not greater than 50 kilowatts, and use a UL 1741 certified inverter; and¶¶~~

~~(e) The small generator facility must not be interconnected to a transmission line or an area network.¶¶~~

(2) Tier 1 Approval Criteria. A public utility must approve an application for interconnection under the Tier 1 interconnection review procedures if the small generator facility meets the approval criteria in subsections (a) through (e). A public utility may not impose different or additional approval criteria.¶¶

(a) A Tier 1 small generator facility interconnection must use existing public utility facilities.¶¶

~~(b) For interconnection of a small generator facility to a radial distribution circuit, the aggregated nameplate~~Substation transformer backfeed screen. Where existing protective devices and equipment cannot adequately support backfeed, the aggregated export capacity on the substation transformer must be less than 80 percent of the relevant minimum load for the substation transformer.¶¶

~~(c) Penetration Screen for interconnection to a radial distribution circuit.¶¶~~

(A) If 12 months of minimum load data (including onsite load but not station service load served by the proposed small generator facility) are available for the line section, the aggregated export capacity on the line section is less than 90 percent of the relevant minimum load for all line sections bounded by automatic sectionalizing devices upstream of the proposed small generator facility; ¶¶

(B) If 12 months of minimum load data (including onsite load but not station service load served by the proposed small generator facility) are not available for line section, the aggregated export capacity on the circuit is less than 90 percent of the relevant minimum load for the feeder; ¶¶

(C) If minimum load data are not available for the line section or the circuit, the aggregated export capacity on the circuit must not exceed 15 percent of the line section annual peak load as most recently measured at the substation or calculated for the line section. ¶¶

~~(e) Network Screen. For interconnection of a small generator facility to the load side of spot network protectors, the aggregated nameplate capacity on the load side of the spot network protectors must not exceed f~~within a spot network, the aggregate nameplate rating may not exceed 20 percent of the spot network or area network's anticipated minimum load. The public utility may select any of the following methods to determine anticipated minimum load:¶¶

(A) The spot network's measured minimum load in the previous year, if available;¶¶

(B) Five percent of at the spot network's maximum load or 50 kilowatts, whichever is less in the previous year;¶¶

(C) The applicant's good faith estimate, if provided; or¶¶

(D) The public utility's good faith estimate if provided in writing to the applicant along with the reasons why the public utility considered the other methods to estimate minimum load inadequate.¶¶

~~(e) Single-Phase Shared Secondary Screen. For interconnection of a small generator facility to a single-phase shared secondary line, the aggregated nameplate export capacity on the line shared secondary must not exceed 20 kilowatts.¶¶~~

~~(e) 65 percent of the transformer nameplate power rating.¶¶~~

(f) Service Imbalance Screen. For interconnection of a single-phase small generator facility to the center tap neutral of a 240-volt service line, the addition of the small generator facility must not create a current imbalance between the two sides of the 240-volt service line of more than 20 percent of the nameplate power rating of the service transformer.¶¶

(3) In addition to the timelines and requirements in OAR 860-082-0025, the public utility must provide written notice to the applicant stating whether the small generator facility meets the Tier 1 approval criteria no later than 15 business days from the date a Tier 1 interconnection application is deemed complete.¶¶

(4) The interconnection process is not complete until: If a public utility does not notify an applicant whether the interconnection is approved or denied within 20 business days after the application is deemed complete, the interconnection will be deemed approved.¶¶

~~(a) The public utility approves the application;¶¶~~

~~(b) The witness test, if conducted by the public utility, is successful; and¶~~

~~(c) The applicant and public utility execute a certificate of completion. Interconnection after passing screens. If the proposed interconnection passes the screens, the public utility must follow the requirements in OAR 860-082-0025(7)(f).¶~~

~~(5) Approval despite screen failure. Despite the failure of one or more screens, the public utility, at its sole option, may approve the interconnection provided such approval is consistent with safety and reliability. If the public utility determines that the small generator facility can be interconnected safely if minor modifications to the transmission or distribution system were made (for example, changing meters, fuses, or relay settings), then the public utility must offer the applicant a good-faith, non-binding estimate of the costs of such proposed minor modifications. The certificate of completion must follow the standard form certificate developed by the Commission. Modifications are not considered minor under this subsection if the total cost of the modifications exceeds \$10,000. If the applicant authorizes the public utility to proceed with the minor modifications and agrees to pay the entire cost of the modifications, then the public utility must approve the application.¶~~

~~(5) If a small generator facility is not approved under the Tier 1 interconnection review procedure, then the applicant may submit a new application after screen failure. If the public utility cannot determine that the small generator facility may nevertheless be interconnected consistent with safety, reliability, and power quality standards, at the time the public utility notifies the applicant of the Tier 1 review results, the public utility must provide the applicant with:¶~~

~~(a) The screen results including specific information on the reason(s) for failure in writing using a standard format approved by the Commission; and¶~~

~~(b) An executable Supplemental Review Agreement.¶~~

~~(c) In addition, the public utility must allow the applicant to select one of the following, at the applicant's option. The applicant must notify the public utility of its selection within 10 business days or the application will be deemed withdrawn.¶~~

~~(A) Request an application under the Tier 2, Tier 3, or Tier 4 review procedures. At the applicant's request, not options meeting;¶~~

~~(B) Undergo supplemental review in accordance with OAR 860-082-0063; or¶~~

~~(C) Continue evaluating the application under Tier 4.¶~~

~~(7) Applicant options meeting. If the applicant requests an applicant options meeting, the public utility shall offer to convene a meeting at a mutually agreeable time within 15 business days of the applicant's request. At the applicant options meeting the public utility must shall provide a written explanation of the reasons for denial within five business days of the request, the applicant the opportunity to review the screen analysis and related results, to designate a different RPA, to review possible customers-generator modifications, and to discuss what further steps are needed to permit the net metering facility to connect safely and reliably.¶~~

~~(8) The interconnection process is not complete until:¶~~

~~(a) The witness test, if conducted by the public utility, is successful; and¶~~

~~(b) The applicant and public utility execute a certificate of completion. The certificate of completion must follow the standard form certificate developed by the public utility and approved by the Commission.~~

~~Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 183, 756, ORS 756, ORS 757~~

~~Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 756.040, ORS 756.060~~

RULE SUMMARY: The rule changes update the screening process and clarify the Tier 2 Application for Interconnection review process.

CHANGES TO RULE:

860-082-0050

Tier 2 Interconnection Review ¶¶

(1) A public utility must use the Tier 2 interconnection review procedures ~~for an application when an applicant submits an application requesting Tier 2 review~~ to interconnect a small generator facility that meets the following requirements:¶¶

(a) The small generator facility does not qualify for ~~or failed to meet~~ the Tier 1 interconnection review requirements;¶¶

(b) ~~¶ If the small generator facility must have a nameplate capacity of two megawatts or less;¶¶~~

~~(c) The inverter-based, the small generator facility's export capacity does not exceed the limits identified in Table 1 attached, which vary according to the voltage of the line at the proposed point of interconnection.¶¶~~

~~(c) Inverter-based small generator facility must be interconnected to either a radial ~~ies~~ located within 2.5 line miles of a substation and on a main distribution circuit or a spot network distribution circuit limited to serving one customer line with minimum 600-amp capacity are eligible for Tier 2 interconnection under higher thresholds;¶¶~~

(d) If the small generator facility is not inverter-based, the small generator facility's export capacity is two megawatts or less;¶¶

~~(d) The small generator facility must not be interconnected to a transmission line, or area network; and¶¶~~

(e) The small generator facility must use interconnection equipment that is either lab-tested equipment or field-tested equipment. For equipment to gain status as field-tested equipment, the applicant must provide all the documentation from the prior ~~Tier 4 study, review, and public utility approval~~, including any interconnection studies and the certificate of completion.¶¶

(2) Tier 2 Approval Criteria. A public utility must approve an application to interconnect a small generator facility under the Tier 2 interconnection review procedures if the facility meets the approval criteria in subsections (a) through (l). A public utility may not impose different or additional approval criteria.¶¶

(a) ~~For interconnection of a small generator facility to a radial distribution circuit, the aggregated nameplate~~ Substation transformer backfeed screen. Where existing protective devices and equipment cannot adequately support backfeed, the aggregated export capacity on the substation transformer must be less than 80 percent of the relevant minimum load for the substation transformer.¶¶

(b) Penetration Screen for interconnection to a radial distribution circuit.¶¶

(A) If 12 months of minimum load data (including onsite load, but not station service load served by the proposed small generator facility) are available for the line section, the aggregated export capacity on the line section is less than 90 percent of the relevant minimum load for all line sections bounded by automatic sectionalizing devices upstream of the proposed small generator facility;¶¶

(B) If 12 months of minimum load data (including onsite load but not station service load served by the proposed small generator facility) are not available for line section, the aggregated export capacity on the circuit is less than 90 percent of the relevant minimum load for the feeder;¶¶

(C) If minimum load data are not available for the line section or the circuit, the aggregated export capacity on the circuit must not exceed 15 percent of the line section annual peak load as most recently measured at the substation or calculated for the line section.¶¶

~~(b) Network Screen. For interconnection of a small generator facility to the load side of within a spot network protectors, the aggregated nameplate capacity on the load side of the spot network protectors must not exceed the lesser of rating may not exceed 20 percent of the spot network's anticipated relevant minimum load. The public utility may select any of the following methods to determine anticipated minimum load:¶¶~~

~~(A) The spot network's measured minimum load in the previous year, if available;¶¶~~

~~(B) Five percent of at the spot network's maximum load or 50 kilowatts in the previous year;¶¶~~

~~(C) The applicant's good faith estimate, if provided; or¶¶~~

~~(c) D) The aggregated nameplate capacity must public utility's good faith estimate if provided in writing to the applicant along with the reasons why the public utility considered the other methods to estimate minimum load inadequate.¶¶~~

(d) Fault Current Screen. The small generator facility, aggregated with other generation on the distribution circuit, will not contribute more than 10 percent to the distribution circuit's maximum fault current at the point on the primary voltage distribution line nearest the point of interconnection.¶¶

~~(d) Short-Circuit Interrupting Capability Screen. The aggregated nameplate capacity rating on the distribution~~

circuit must not cause any distribution protective devices and equipment (including substation breakers, fuse cutouts, and line reclosers) or other public utility equipment on the transmission or distribution system to be exposed to fault currents exceeding 90 percent of the short circuit interrupting capability. The small generator facility's point of interconnection must not be located on a circuit that already exceeds 90 percent of the short circuit interrupting capability.¶

~~(ef) The aggregated nameplate capacity on a transient Stability Screen. The small generator facility's nameplate rating, in aggregate with other small generator facilities interconnected to the distribution side of a substation transformer feeding the circuit where the small generator facility proposes to interconnect must not exceed 10 megawatts in an area where there are known or posted transient stability limitations to generating units located in the general electrical vicinity (for example, three or four distribution busses from the point of interconnection).¶~~

~~(fg) If the small generator facility Line Configuration Screen. Using Table 2 attached, determine the type of interconnection is to a primary line on the distribution system, then the interconnection must meet the following criteria:¶~~

~~(A) If the small generator facility is three-phase or single-phase and will be line. This screen includes a review of the type of electrical service provided to the project, including line configuration and the transformer connected to a three-phase, three-wire primary line, then the small generator facility must be connected phase-to-phase.¶~~

~~(B) If the small generator facility is three-phase or single-phase and will be connected to a three-phase, four-wire primary line, then the small generator facility must be connected line-to-neutral and effectively grounded.¶~~

~~(g) limit the potential for creating over-voltages on the interconnecting public utility's electric power system due to a loss of ground during the operating time of any anti-islanding function.¶~~

~~(h) Single-Phase Shared Secondary Screen. For interconnection of a small generator facility to a single-phase shared service line on the transmission or distribution system, the aggregated nameplate export capacity on the shared secondary line must not exceed 20 kilowatts.¶~~

~~(h) 65 percent of the transformer nameplate power rating.¶~~

~~(i) Service Imbalance Screen. For interconnection of a single-phase small generator facility to the center tap neutral of a 240-volt service line, the addition of the small generator facility must not create a current imbalance between the two sides of the 240-volt service line of more than 20 percent of the nameplate power rating of the service transformer.¶~~

~~(ij) Except as provided in subsection (2)(4), the interconnection of the small generator facility must not require system upgrades or interconnection facilities different from or in addition to the applicant's proposed interconnection equipment.¶~~

~~(jk) The aggregated nameplate capacity, in combination with existing transmission loads, must not cause the transmission system circuit directly connected to the distribution circuit where the small generator facility interconnection is proposed to exceed its design capacity.¶~~

~~(k) If the public utility's distribution circuit uses high-speed reclose. If the public utility's distribution circuit uses high speed reclosing with less than two seconds of interruption, then the small generator facility must not be a synchronous machine. If the small generator facility is a synchronous machine, then the applicant must submit a Tier 4 application.¶~~

~~(l) Inadvertent Export Screen. For interconnection of a proposed small generator facility that can introduce inadvertent export, where the nameplate rating minus the export capacity is greater than 250 kilowatts, the following inadvertent export screen is required. With a power change equal to the nameplate rating minus the export capacity, the change in voltage at the point on the medium voltage (primary) level nearest the point of interconnection does not exceed three percent. Voltage change will be estimated applying the formula shown in Figure 1 attached.¶~~

~~(3) Timelines. In addition to the timelines and requirements in OAR 860-082-0025 and if a net metering facility, OAR 860-039, within 20 business days after a public utility notifies an applicant that its application is complete, the public utility must:¶~~

~~(a) Evaluate the application using with less than two seconds of interruption, then the small generator facility must not be a synchronous machine. If the small generator facility is a synchronous machine, then the Tier 2 approval criteria in section (2):¶~~

~~(b) Review any independent analysis of the proposed interconnection provided by the applicant that was performed using the Tier 2 approval criteria; and¶~~

~~(c) Provide written notice to the applicant stating whether the public utility approved the application. If the proposed interconnection passes the screens, the public utility must follow the requirements in OAR 860-082-0025(7)(f). If applicable, the applicant must submit a Tier 4 application public utility must include a comparison of its evaluation to the applicant's independent analysis.¶~~

~~(4) If the small generator Approval despite screen facility fails to meet. Despite the failure of one or more of the criteria in subsections (2)(a) through (k), but screens, the public utility, at its sole option, may approve the~~

interconnection provided such approval is consistent with safety and reliability. If the public utility determines that the small generator facility could be interconnected safely if minor modifications to the transmission or distribution system were made (for example, changing meters, fuses, or relay settings), then the public utility must offer the applicant a good-faith, non-binding estimate of the costs of such proposed minor modifications. Modifications are not considered minor under this subsection if the total cost of the modifications exceeds \$10,000. If the applicant authorizes the public utility to proceed with the minor modifications and agrees to pay the entire cost of the modifications, then the public utility must approve the application under Tier 2.

~~(3) In addition to the timelines and requirements in OAR 860-082-0025, the following timelines and requirements apply to Tier 2 interconnection reviews:~~

~~(a) A public utility must schedule a scoping meet.~~

~~(5) Process after screen failure. If the public utility cannot determine that the small generator facility may nevertheless be interconnected consistent with safety and reliability standards, at the time the public utility notifies the applicant of the Tier 2 review results, the public utility must provide the applicant with:~~

~~(a) The screen results, including specific information on the reason(s) for failure, within 10 business days after notifying an applicant that its application is complete. To, using a standard format approved by the Commission; and~~

~~(b) An executable Supplemental Review Agreement.~~

~~(c) In addition, the public utility and must allow the applicant may agree to waive the scoping meeting requirement.~~

~~(b) Within 20 business days after a public utility notifies an applicant that its application is complete or a scoping meeting is held, whichever is later, the public utility must: to select one of the following, at the applicant's option. The applicant must notify the public utility of its selection within 10 business days or the application will be deemed withdrawn.~~

~~(A) Request an applicant options meeting;~~

~~(B) Undergo supplemental review in accordance with OAR 860-082-0063; or~~

~~(AC) Continue evaluating the application using the Tier 2 approval criteria in section (2);~~

~~(B) Review any independent analysis of the proposed interconnection provided by the applicant that was performed using the Tier 2 approval criteria; and~~

~~(C) Provide under Tier 4.~~

~~(6) Applicant options meeting. If the applicant requests an applicant options meeting, the public utility shall offer to convene a meeting at a mutually agreeable time written notice to in 15 business days of the applicant's request. At the applicant stating whether the options meeting the public utility shall provided the application. If applicable, the public utility must include a comparison of its evaluation to the applicant's independent analysis, the opportunity to review the screen analysis and related results, to designate a different RPA, to review possible customers-generator modifications, and to discuss what further steps are needed to permit the net metering facility to connect safely and reliably.~~

~~(4) The interconnection process is not complete until:~~

~~(a) The public utility approves the application;~~

~~(b) Any minor modifications to the transmission or distribution system required under subsection (2)(4) are complete;~~

~~(c) The witness test, if conducted by the public utility, is successful; and~~

~~(d) The applicant and public utility execute a certificate of completion. The certificate of completion must follow the standard form certificate developed by the public utility and approved by the Commission.~~

~~(5) If a small generator facility is not approved under the Tier 2 interconnection review procedure, then the applicant may submit a new application under the Tier 3 or Tier 4 review procedures. At the applicant's request, the public utility must provide a written explanation of the reasons for denial within five business days of the request.~~

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 183, ~~756~~, ORS 756, ORS 757

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 756.040, ORS 756.060

RULE ATTACHMENTS DO NOT SHOW CHANGES. PLEASE CONTACT AGENCY REGARDING CHANGES.

OAR 860-082-0050(1) Table 1

Line Voltage	Export Capacity for Tier 2 Eligibility	
	Regardless of location	On > 600 amp line and < 2.5 line miles from substation
< 5 kV	< 1 MW	< 2 MW
5 kV – 14 kV	< 2 MW	< 3 MW
15 kV – 30 kV	< 3 MW	< 4 MW
31 kV – 69 kV	< 4 MW	< 5 MW

OAR 860-082-0050(2)(g) Table 2

Primary Distribution Line Type	Type of Interconnection to Primary Distribution Line Required To Pass Screen
Three-phase, three-wire	Interface connection transformer high side is phase-to-phase
Three-phase, four-wire	For single phase generation, the interface connection transformer high side is phase-to-neutral; For three-phase inverter-based generation, the interface connection transformer is (1) Yg-yg, or (2) Yg-delta with a relay on the transformer high side that can detect faults; or, For three-phase rotating generation, the small generator facility high side is connected phase-to-neutral and effectively grounded.
Three-phase, four-wire or mixed three-wire and four-wire	The public utility will extend the neutral wire to the point of interconnection and treat the small generator facility as an interconnection to a three-phase, four-wire system.

OAR 860-082-0050(2)(l) Figure 1

$\frac{(R_{SOURCE} \times \Delta P) - (X_{SOURCE} \times \Delta Q)}{V^2}$
<p>Where:</p> <p>$\Delta P = (\text{DER apparent power Nameplate Rating} - \text{Export Capacity}) \times \text{PF}$, $\Delta Q =$ $(\text{DER apparent power Nameplate Rating} - \text{Export Capacity}) \times \sqrt{(1 - \text{PF}^2)}$, R_{SOURCE} is the grid resistance, X_{SOURCE} is the grid reactance, V is the grid voltage, PF is the power factor</p>

RULE SUMMARY: The rule changes update and clarify Tier 3 Application for Interconnection review process.

CHANGES TO RULE:

860-082-0055

Tier 3 Interconnection Review ¶

(1) A public utility must use the Tier 3 interconnection review procedures ~~for an application when the applicant submits an application requesting Tier 3 review~~ to interconnect a small generator facility that meets the following requirements:¶

~~(a) The small generator facility does not qualify for or failed to meet the Tier 1 or Tier 2 interconnection review requirements;¶~~

~~(b)~~ The small generator facility must have a nameplate capacity rating of 10 megawatts or less;¶

~~(c)~~ The small generator facility must not be connected to a transmission line;¶

(d) The small generator facility must not export power beyond the point of interconnection; and¶

~~(e)~~ The small generator facility must use low forward power relays or other protection functions that prevent power flow onto the area network.¶

(2) Tier 3 Approval Criteria. A public utility must approve an application to interconnect a small generator facility under the Tier 3 interconnection review procedures if the facility meets the Tier 2 approval criteria in OAR 860 082 0050(2)(a) ~~(h)~~, (j) and the additional approval criteria in subsections (a), (b), or (c) of this section. A public utility may not impose different or additional approval criteria.¶

(a) For a small generator facility to interconnect to the load side of an area network distribution circuit, the small generator facility must meet the following criteria:¶

(A) The nameplate capacity rating of the small generator facility must be 50 kilowatts or less;¶

(B) The small generator facility must use lab-tested, inverter-based interconnection equipment;¶

(C) The aggregated nameplate capacity rating on the area network must not exceed five percent of an area network's maximum load or 50 kilowatts, whichever is less; and¶

(D) Except as allowed in subsection (2)(c), the interconnection of the small generator facility must not require system upgrades or interconnection facilities different from or in addition to the applicant's proposed interconnection equipment.¶

(b) For a small generator facility to interconnect to a distribution circuit that is not networked, the small generator facility must meet the following criteria:¶

~~(A) The small generator facility must have a nameplate capacity of 10 megawatts or less;¶~~

~~(B)~~ The aggregated nameplate capacity rating on the circuit must be 10 megawatts or less;¶

~~(C) The small generator facility must not export power beyond the point of interconnection;¶~~

~~(D)~~ The small generator facility's point of interconnection must be to a radial distribution circuit;¶

~~(E)~~ The small generator facility must not be served by a shared transformer;¶

~~(F)~~ Except as allowed in subsection (2)(c), the interconnection of the small generator facility must not require system upgrades or interconnection facilities different from or in addition to the applicant's proposed interconnection equipment; and¶

~~(G)~~ If the public utility's distribution circuit uses high speed reclosing with less than two seconds of interruption, then the small generator facility must not be a synchronous machine. If the small generator facility is a synchronous machine, then the applicant must submit a Tier 4 application.¶

(c) If the small generator facility fails to meet one or more of the Tier 3 approval requirements, but the public utility determines that the small generator facility could be interconnected safely if minor modifications to the transmission or distribution system were made (for example, changing meters, fuses, or relay settings), then the public utility must offer the applicant a good-faith, non-binding estimate of the costs of such proposed minor modifications. Modifications are not considered minor under this subsection if the total cost of the modifications exceeds \$10,000. If the applicant authorizes the public utility to proceed with the minor modifications and agrees to pay the entire cost of the modifications, then the public utility must approve the application under Tier 3.¶

(3) In addition to the timelines and requirements in OAR 860-082-0025, the following timelines and requirements apply to Tier 3 interconnection reviews:¶

(a) An interconnecting public utility must schedule a scoping meeting within 10 business days after notifying an applicant that its application is complete. ~~The public utility and the applicant may agree to waive the scoping meeting requirement.~~¶

(b) Within 20 business days after a public utility notifies an applicant its application is complete or a scoping meeting is held, whichever is later, the public utility must:¶

(A) Evaluate the application using the Tier 3 approval criteria;¶

(B) Review any independent analysis of the proposed interconnection provided by the applicant that was performed using the Tier 3 approval criteria; and¶

(C) Provide written notice to the applicant stating whether the public utility approved the application. If applicable, the public utility must include a comparison of its evaluation to the applicant's independent evaluation.¶

(4) The interconnection process is not complete until:¶

(a) The public utility approves the proposed interconnection passes the screens, the public utility must follow the requirements in OAR 860-082-0025(7)(f). If applicable, the public utility must include a comparison of its evaluation to the applicant's independent evaluation.¶

(4) Approval despite screen failure. Despite the failure of one or more screens, the public utility, at its sole option, may approve the interconnection provided such approval is consistent with safety and reliability.¶

(5) Process after screen failure. If the public utility cannot determine that the small generator facility may nevertheless be interconnected consistent with safety and reliability standards, at the time the public utility notifies the applicant of the Tier 3 review results, the public utility must provide the application with:¶

(ba) Any minor modifications to the screen results, including specific information on the transmission or distribution system required under subsection (2)(c) are complete;¶

(c) The witness test, if conducted by the public utility, is successful; and¶

(d) The applicant and public utility execute a certificate of completion. The certificate of completion must follow the standard form certificate developed by the public utility and approved by the Commission.¶

(5) If a small generator facility is not approved under the Tier 3 interconnection review procedures, then the applicant may submit reason(s) for failure in writing using a standard format approved by the Commission; and¶

(b) An executable Supplemental Review Agreement.¶

(c) In addition, the public utility will allow the applicant to select one of the following, at the applicant's option:¶

(A) Request an applicant options meeting;¶

(B) Undergo supplemental review in accordance with OAR 860-082-0063; or¶

(C) Continue evaluating the application under Tier 4.¶

The applicant must notify the public utility of its selection within 10 business days or the application will be deemed withdrawn.¶

(6) Applicant options meeting. If the applicant requests an applicant options meeting, the public utility shall offer to convene a meeting at a mutually agreeable time within 15 business days of the applicant's request. At the applicant options meeting the public utility shall provide the applicant the opportunity to review the screen analysis and related results, to designate a different RPA, to review possible customers-generator modifications, and to discuss what further steps are needed to permit the net metering facility to connect safely and reliably.¶

(7) The interconnection process is not complete until:¶

(a) The public utility approves the application under the Tier 4 review procedures. At the applicant's request, the public utility must provide a written explanation of the reasons for denial within five business days of the request;¶

(b) Any minor modifications to the transmission or distribution system required under subsection (2)(c) are complete;¶

(c) The witness test, if conducted by the public utility, is successful; and¶

(d) The applicant and public utility execute a certificate of completion. The certificate of completion must follow the standard form certificate developed by the public utility and approved by the Commission.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 183, 756, ORS 756, ORS 757

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 756.040, ORS 756.060

AMEND: 860-082-0060

RULE SUMMARY: The rule changes provide updates and clarifications to Tier 4 Application for Interconnection review process.

CHANGES TO RULE:

860-082-0060

Tier 4 Interconnection Review ¶¶

(1) A public utility must use the Tier 4 interconnection review procedures ~~for an application when an applicant submits an application requesting Tier 4 review~~ to interconnect a small generator facility ~~that meets~~ the following requirements:¶¶

(a) The small generator facility ~~does not qualify for or failed to meet the Tier 1, Tier 2, or Tier 3 interconnection review requirements; and~~¶¶

~~(b) The small generator facility must have a nameplate capacity of 10 megawatts or less must have a nameplate rating of 10 megawatts or less.~~¶¶

(b) An applicant whose Tier 1, Tier 2, or Tier 3 application was denied may request that the public utility treat that existing application already in the public utility's possession as a new Tier 4 application. Within ten business days of receipt of the applicant's request to use the existing application, the public utility will transfer the existing application to the Tier 4 process and notify the applicant whether or not the application is complete. If the application is incomplete, the public utility must provide a written list detailing all information that the applicant must provide to complete the application. The applicant will have ten business days after receipt of the list to submit the listed information. Otherwise, the application will be deemed withdrawn. The public utility must notify the applicant within ten business days of receipt of the revised application whether the revised application is complete or incomplete. The public utility may deem the application withdrawn if it remains incomplete.¶¶

(2) A public utility must approve an application to interconnect a small generator facility under the Tier 4 interconnection review procedures if the public utility determines that the safety and reliability of the public utility's transmission or distribution system will not be compromised by interconnecting the small generator facility. The applicant must pay the reasonable costs of any interconnection facilities or system upgrades necessitated by the interconnection.¶¶

(3) In addition to the timelines and requirements in OAR 860-082-0025, the timelines and requirements in sections (5) through (12) of this rule apply to Tier 4 interconnection reviews.¶¶

(4) A public utility and an applicant may agree to waive the requirement for a scoping meeting, ~~the feasibility study, the system impact study, or the facilities study.~~ The applicant may waive the requirement for a feasibility study.¶¶

(5) A public utility must schedule a scoping meeting within 10 business days after notifying an applicant that its application is complete.¶¶

(a) The public utility and the applicant must bring to the scoping meeting all personnel, including system engineers, as may be reasonably required to accomplish the purpose of the meeting.¶¶

(b) The public utility and applicant must discuss whether the public utility should perform a feasibility study or proceed directly to a system impact study, a facilities study, or an interconnection agreement.¶¶

(c) If the public utility determines that no studies are necessary, then the public utility must ~~approve the application within 15 business days of the scoping meeting~~ follow the requirements in OAR 860-082-0025(7) if:¶¶

(A) The application meets the criteria in section (2); and¶¶

(B) The interconnection of the small generator facility does not require system upgrades or interconnection facilities different from or in addition to the applicant's proposed interconnection equipment.¶¶

(d) If the public utility determines that no studies are necessary and that the small generator facility could be interconnected safely if minor modifications to the transmission or distribution system were made (for example, changing meters, fuses, or relay settings), then the public utility must offer the applicant a good-faith, non-binding estimate of the costs of such proposed minor modifications. Modifications are not considered minor under this subsection if the total cost of the modifications exceeds \$10,000. If the applicant authorizes the public utility to proceed with the minor modifications and agrees to pay the entire cost of the modifications, then the public utility must ~~approve~~ send the application to an executed interconnection agreement within 15 business days of receipt of the applicant's agreement to pay for the minor modifications.¶¶

(6) If a public utility reasonably concludes that an adequate evaluation of an the application requires a feasibility study, ~~then~~ the public utility must provide the applicant with an executable feasibility study agreement within five business days of the date of the scoping meeting.¶¶

(a) The feasibility study agreement must include a detailed scope for the feasibility study, a reasonable schedule for completion of the study, and a good-faith, non-binding estimate of the costs to perform the study.¶¶

- (b) The feasibility study agreement must follow the standard form agreement developed by the public utility and approved by the Commission.¶
- (c) The applicant must execute the feasibility study agreement within 15 business days of receipt of the agreement or the application is deemed withdrawn.¶
- (d) The public utility must make reasonable, good-faith efforts to follow the schedule set forth in the feasibility study agreement for completion of the study.¶
- (e) The feasibility study must identify any potential adverse system impacts on the public utility's transmission or distribution system or an affected system that may result from the interconnection of the small generator facility. In determining possible adverse system impacts, the public utility must consider the aggregated nameplate capacity rating or export capacity when applicable of all generating facilities that, on the date the feasibility study begins, are directly interconnected to the public utility's transmission or distribution system, have a pending completed application to interconnect with a higher queue position, or have an executed interconnection agreement with the public utility.¶
- (f) The public utility must evaluate multiple potential points of interconnection at the applicant's request. The applicant must pay the costs of this additional evaluation.¶
- (g) The public utility must provide a copy of the feasibility study to the applicant within five business days of the study's completion.¶
- (h) If the feasibility study identifies any potential adverse system impacts, then the public utility must perform a system impact study.¶
- (i) If the feasibility study does not identify any adverse system impacts, then the public utility must perform a facilities study if the public utility reasonably concludes that a facilities study is necessary to adequately evaluate the application.¶
- (A) If the public utility concludes that a facilities study is not required, then the public utility must approve the application ~~with 15 business days of completion of the feasibility study~~ if the application meets the criteria in section (2) and the interconnection of the small generator facility does not require system upgrades or interconnection facilities different from or in addition to the applicant's proposed interconnection equipment.¶
- (B) If the public utility concludes that a facilities study is not required and that the small generator facility could be interconnected safely if minor modifications to the transmission or distribution system were made (for example, changing meters, fuses, or relay settings), then the public utility must offer the applicant a good-faith, non-binding estimate of the costs of such proposed minor modifications. Modifications are not considered minor under this subsection if the total cost of the modifications exceeds \$10,000. If the applicant authorizes the public utility to proceed with the minor modifications and agrees to pay the entire cost of the modifications, then the public utility must approve the application ~~within 15 business days of receipt of the applicant's agreement to pay for the minor modifications~~.¶
- (7) If a public utility is required to perform a system impact study under subsection (6)(h), or if an applicant and a public utility agree in the scoping meeting to waive the feasibility study and proceed directly to the system impact study, then the public utility must provide the applicant with an executable system impact study agreement within five business days of completing the feasibility study or from the date of the scoping meeting, whichever is applicable.¶
- (a) The system impact study agreement must include a detailed scope for the system impact study, a reasonable schedule for completion of the study, and a good-faith, non-binding estimate of the costs to perform the study.¶
- (b) The system impact study agreement must follow the standard form agreement developed by the public utility and approved by the Commission.¶
- (c) The applicant must execute the system impact study agreement within 15 business days of receipt of the agreement or the application is deemed withdrawn.¶
- (d) The public utility must make reasonable, good-faith efforts to follow the schedule set forth in the system impact study agreement for completion of the study.¶
- (e) The system impact study must identify and detail the impacts on the public utility's transmission or distribution system or on an affected system that would result from the interconnection of the small generator facility if no modifications to the small generator facility or system upgrades were made. The system impact study must include evaluation of the adverse system impacts identified in the feasibility study and in the scoping meeting.¶
- (f) In determining possible adverse system impacts, the public utility must consider the aggregated nameplate capacity rating, or export capacity when applicable, of all generating facilities that, on the date the system impact study begins, are directly interconnected to the public utility's transmission or distribution system, have a pending completed application to interconnect with a higher queue position, or have an executed interconnection agreement with the public utility. If the small generator facility limits export pursuant to OAR 860-082-0033, the system impact study must use export capacity instead of the nameplate rating, except when assessing fault current contribution. To assess fault current contribution, the system impact study must use the rated fault current if the customer provides the relevant information or provide a written explanation for cases where they

do not want to rely on customer-provided data. An example of customer-provided data would include provision of manufacturer test data (pursuant to the fault current test described in IEEE 1547.1-2020 clause 5.18) showing that the fault current is independent of the nameplate rating. The public utility must provide an explanation for any cases where they do not want to rely on customer-provided data.¶

(g) The system impact study must include:¶

(A) A short circuit analysis;¶

(B) A stability analysis;¶

(C) A power flow analysis;¶

(D) Voltage drop and flicker studies;¶

(E) Protection and set point coordination studies;¶

(F) Grounding reviews;¶

(G) The underlying assumptions of the study;¶

(H) The results of the analyses; and¶

(I) Any potential impediments to providing the requested interconnection service.¶

(h) If an applicant provides an independent system impact study to the public utility, then the public utility must evaluate and address any alternative findings from that study.¶

(i) The public utility must provide a copy of the system impact study to the applicant within five business days of completing the study.¶

(j) If a public utility determines in a system impact study that interconnection facilities or system upgrades are necessary to safely interconnect a small generator facility, then the public utility must perform a facilities study.¶

(k) If the public utility determines that no interconnection facilities or system upgrades are required, and the public utility concludes that the application meets the criteria in section (2), then the public utility must approve the application with 15 business days of completion of the system impact study.¶

(l) If the public utility determines that no interconnection facilities or system upgrades are required and that the small generator facility could be interconnected safely if minor modifications to the transmission or distribution system were made (for example, changing meters, fuses, or relay settings), then the public utility must offer the applicant a good-faith, non-binding estimate of the costs of such proposed minor modifications. Modifications are not considered minor under this subsection if the total cost of the modifications exceeds \$10,000. If the applicant authorizes the public utility to proceed with the minor modifications and agrees to pay the entire cost of the modifications, then the public utility must approve the application within 15 business days of the applicant's agreement to pay for the minor modifications.¶

(8) If a public utility is required to perform a facilities study under subsection (6)(i) or 7(j), or if an applicant and a public utility agree in the scoping meeting to waive the system impact study and proceed directly to the facilities study, then the public utility must provide the applicant with an executable facilities study agreement within five business days of completing the system impact study or within five business days from the date of the scoping meeting, whichever is applicable.¶

(a) The facilities study agreement must include a detailed scope for the facilities study, a reasonable schedule for completion of the study, and a good-faith, non-binding estimate of the costs to perform the study.¶

(b) The facilities study agreement must follow the standard form agreement developed by the public utility and approved by the Commission.¶

(c) The applicant must execute the interconnection facilities study agreement within 15 business days after receipt of the agreement or the application is deemed withdrawn.¶

(d) The public utility must make reasonable, good-faith efforts to follow the schedule set forth in the facilities study agreement for completion of the study.¶

(e) The facilities study must identify the interconnection facilities and system upgrades required to safely interconnect the small generator facility and must determine the costs for the facilities and upgrades, including equipment, engineering, procurement, and construction costs. Design for any required interconnection facilities or system upgrades must be performed under the facilities study agreement. The public utility must also identify the electrical switching configuration of the equipment, including transformer, switchgear, meters, and other station equipment.¶

(f) The public utility may contract with a third-party consultant to complete the interconnection facilities and system upgrades identified in the facilities study. A public utility and an applicant may agree in writing to allow the applicant to hire a third-party consultant to complete the interconnection facilities and system upgrades, subject to public utility oversight and approval.¶

(g) The interconnection facilities study must include a detailed estimate of the time required to procure, construct, and install the required interconnection facilities and system upgrades.¶

(h) If the applicant agrees to pay for the interconnection facilities and system upgrades identified in the facilities study, then the public utility must approve the application ~~within 15 business days of the applicant's agreement.~~¶

(9) The public utility may contract with a third-party consultant to complete a feasibility study, system impact

study, or facilities study. A public utility and an applicant may agree in writing to allow the applicant to hire a third-party consultant to complete a feasibility study, system impact study, or facilities study, subject to public utility oversight and approval.¶¶

(10) The interconnection process is not complete until:¶¶

(a) The public utility approves the application;¶¶

(b) Any interconnection facilities or system upgrades have been completed;¶¶

(c) Any minor modifications to the public utility's transmission or distribution system required under subsections (5)(d), 6(i)(B), or (7)(l) have been completed;¶¶

(d) The witness test, if conducted by the public utility, is successful; and¶¶

(e) The applicant and public utility execute a certificate of completion.¶¶

(11) If a small generator facility is not approved under the Tier 4 interconnection review procedures, then the public utility must provide a written explanation of the denial to the applicant.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 183, ~~756~~, ORS 756, ORS 757

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 756.040, ORS 756.060

RULE SUMMARY: This new rule adds an option for the supplemental review and provides the process to follow for Interconnection Application Review.

CHANGES TO RULE:

860-082-0063

Supplemental Review

(1) To accept the offer of a supplemental review, the applicant must submit a signed copy of the Supplemental Review Agreement and pay a supplemental review fee of \$1,000, both within 10 business days of the offer. If the written agreement and fee have not been received within that timeframe, the Application will be deemed withdrawn unless the applicant has notified the public utility that they wish to continue being evaluated under the Tier 4 review procedures.

(2) Within 20 business days of an applicant's election to undergo supplemental review, the public utility must perform supplemental review using the screens set forth below, notify the applicant of the results, and include with the notification a written report of the analysis and data underlying the public utility's determinations under the screens.

(a) Supplemental Review Penetration Screen: Where 12 months of line section minimum load data (including onsite load, but not station service load served by the proposed small generator facility) are available, can be calculated, can be estimated from existing data, or can be determined from a power flow model, the aggregate export capacity on the feeder or line section is less than 100 percent of the relevant minimum load on the feeder. If minimum load data are not available, or cannot be calculated, estimated, or determined, the aggregated export capacity on the line section is less than 30 percent of the peak load for all line Sections bounded by automatic sectionalizing devices upstream of the proposed project.

(A) Load that is co-located with load-following, non-exporting, or export-limited projects should be appropriately accounted for. The public utility may take the impacts of non-export or export limited generation on the calculation of daytime minimum load when evaluating potential system impacts.

(B) The interconnecting public utility will not consider as part of the aggregate export capacity for purposes of this screen the export capacity of generators known to be already reflected in the minimum load data, including combined heat and power (CHP) facility capacity.

(b) Voltage and Power Quality Screen. In aggregate with existing generation on the line section:

(A) The voltage regulation on the line section can be maintained in compliance with relevant requirements under all system conditions;

(B) The voltage fluctuation is within acceptable limits as defined by IEEE Std 1547";

(C) The harmonic levels meet IEEE 1547 limits at the Point of Interconnection; and

(D) Substation transformer backfeed screen. Where existing protective devices and equipment cannot adequately support backfeed, the aggregated export capacity on the substation transformer must be less than 80 percent of the relevant minimum load for the substation transformer.

(E) Supplemental Grounding Screen: If the project failed the Line Configuration Screen, apply the Supplemental Grounding Screen in paragraphs (F) -(H). If the project limits export pursuant to OAR 860-082-0033, the export capacity must be included in any analysis including power flow simulations.

(F) For projects with a rotating machine, if effective grounding is maintained, the project passes the screen.

(G) For projects with a three-phase inverter, apply one of the following screens:

(i) If the line-to-neutral connected load on the feeder or line section is greater than 33 percent of peak load on the feeder or line-section, the project passes the screen.

(ii) If using a supplemental grounding software tool:

(I) If the tool determines that supplemental grounding is not required to maintain effective grounding, the project passes this screen.

(II) If the tool determines that supplemental grounding is required, the applicant must agree to modify the project to include supplemental grounding. If the applicant does not agree to modify the project, the project fails this screen.

(H) If using detailed hosting capacity analysis that incorporates evaluation of temporary overvoltage risk for inverters, the project passes the screen if the nameplate rating of the project is below the available hosting capacity at the Point of Interconnection.

(c) Safety and Reliability Screen. The location of the proposed small generator facility and the aggregate export capacity on the line section do not create impacts to safety or reliability that cannot be adequately addressed without application of the study process. If the project limits export pursuant to OAR 860-082-0033, the export capacity must be included in any analysis, including power flow simulations, except when assessing fault current contribution. To assess fault current contribution, the analysis must use the rated fault current; for example, the

applicant may provide manufacturer test data (pursuant the fault current test described in IEEE 1547.1-2020 clause 5.18) showing that the fault current is independent of the nameplate rating. The interconnecting public utility may consider the following factors and others in determining potential impacts to safety and reliability in applying this screen:¶

(A) Whether the line section has significant minimum loading levels dominated by a small number of customers (i.e., several large commercial customers).¶

(B) Whether the loading along the line section is uniform or even.¶

(C) Whether the project is located in close proximity to the substation (i.e., less than 2.5 electrical circuit miles), and whether the line section from the substation to the Point of Interconnection is a Mainline rated for normal and emergency ampacity.¶

(D) Whether the project incorporates an adjustable time delay function to prevent reconnection of the generator to the system until system voltage and frequency are within normal limits for a prescribed time.¶

(E) Whether operational flexibility is reduced by the project, such that transfer of the line section(s) of the Project to a neighboring distribution circuit/substation may trigger overloads or voltage issues.¶

(F) Whether the project employs equipment or systems certified by a recognized standards organization to address technical issues such as, but not limited to, islanding, reverse power flow, or voltage quality.¶

(3) If the proposed interconnection passes the supplemental screens, the Application must be approved and the public utility will provide the applicant an executed Interconnection Agreement pursuant to the procedure set forth in OAR 860-082-0025(7)(e).¶

(4) After receiving an Interconnection Agreement executed by the public utility, the applicant must proceed under the terms of the applicable level of review under which the Application was initially studied.¶

(5) Applicants undergoing Supplemental Review will be able to access, review, and verify minimum load calculations except in cases where the minimum load data contain identifiable individual customer data.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 183, ORS 756, ORS 757

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 756.040, ORS 756.060

AMEND: 860-082-0065

RULE SUMMARY: A housekeeping change was made to this rule.

CHANGES TO RULE:

860-082-0065

Recordkeeping and Reporting Requirements ¶¶

(1) The public utility must maintain a record of the following information for at least two years:¶¶

(a) The number of complete small generator interconnection applications received;¶¶

(b) The time required to complete the review process for each application; and¶¶

(c) The reasons for the approval or denial of each application.¶¶

(2) For as long as an interconnection customer's small generator facility is interconnected to a public utility's transmission or distribution system, the interconnecting public utility must maintain copies of the interconnection application, interconnection agreement, and certificate of completion for the small generator facility. The public utility must provide a copy of the interconnection customer's records to the interconnection customer within 15 business days after receipt of a written request.¶¶

(3) The public utility must submit an annual report to the Commission summarizing the public utility's interconnection activities for the previous calendar year. The annual report must be filed by May 30 and must include the following information:¶¶

(a) The number of complete small generator interconnection applications received;¶¶

(b) The number of small generator facility interconnections completed;¶¶

(c) The types of small generator facilities applying for interconnection and the nameplate capacity rating of the facilities;¶¶

(d) The location of completed and proposed small generator facilities by zip code;¶¶

(e) For each Tier 3 and Tier 4 small generator interconnection approval, the basic telemetry configuration, if applicable; and¶¶

(f) For each Tier 4 small generator interconnection approval:¶¶

(A) The interconnection facilities required to accommodate the interconnection of a small generator facility and the estimated costs of those facilities; and¶¶

(B) The system upgrades required to accommodate the interconnection of a small generator facility and the estimated costs of those upgrades.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 183, ~~756~~, ORS 756, ORS 757

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 756.040, ORS 756.060

AMEND: 860-082-0070

RULE SUMMARY: The rule changes are housekeeping.

CHANGES TO RULE:

860-082-0070

Metering and Monitoring ¶

(l) The public utility must install, maintain, test, repair, operate, and replace any metering and data acquisition equipment necessary under the terms of the public utility's interconnection agreement, power purchase agreement, or power service agreement with an applicant or interconnection customer. The applicant or interconnection customer is responsible for all reasonable costs associated with the metering and data acquisition equipment. The public utility and the applicant or interconnection customer must have unrestricted access to such equipment as necessary to conduct routine business or respond to an emergency.¶

(2) Except as provided in subsection 3(b), a public utility may not require an applicant or interconnection customer with a small generator facility with a nameplate ~~capacity~~ rating of less than three megawatts to provide or pay for the data acquisition or telemetry equipment necessary to allow the public utility to remotely monitor the small generator facility's electric output.¶

(3) At its discretion, a public utility may require an applicant or interconnection customer to pay for the purchase, installation, operation, and maintenance of the data acquisition or telemetry equipment necessary to allow the public utility to remotely monitor the small generator facility's electric output if:¶

(a) The small generator facility has a nameplate ~~capacity~~ rating greater than or equal to 3 megawatts; or¶

(b) The small generator facility meets the criteria in OAR 860-082-0055(1) for Tier 3 interconnection review and the aggregated nameplate ~~generation~~ rating on the circuit exceeds 50 percent of the line section annual peak load.¶

(4) A public utility and an applicant or interconnection customer may agree to waive or modify the telemetry requirements in this rule.¶

(5) Telemetry Requirements.¶

(a) The communication must take place via a private network link using a frame relay, fractional T-1 line, or other suitable device. Dedicated remote terminal units from the interconnected small generator facility to a public utility's substation and energy management system are not required.¶

(b) A single communication circuit from the small generator facility to the public utility is sufficient.¶

(c) Communications protocol must be DNP 3.0 or another reasonable standard used by the public utility.¶

(d) The small generator facility must be capable of sending telemetric monitoring data to the public utility at a minimum rate of every two seconds from the output of the small generator facility's telemetry equipment to the public utility's energy management system.¶

(e) A small generator facility must provide the following minimum data to the public utility:¶

(A) Net real power flowing out or into the small generator facility (analog);¶

(B) Net reactive power flowing out or into the small generator facility (analog);¶

(C) Bus bar voltage at the point of common coupling (analog);¶

(D) Data processing gateway heartbeat (used to certify the telemetric signal quality); and¶

(E) On-line or off-line status (digital).¶

(f) If an applicant or interconnection customer operates the equipment associated with the high voltage switchyard interconnecting the small generator facility to the transmission or distribution system and is required to provide monitoring and telemetry, then the interconnection customer must provide the following data to the public utility in addition to the data in subsection (e):¶

(A) Switchyard line and transformer megawatt and mega volt ampere reactive values;¶

(B) Switchyard bus voltage; and¶

(C) Switching device status.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 183, ~~756~~, ORS 756, ORS 757

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 756.040, ORS 756.060